
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 
COMMITTEE 

 

Wednesday, 7th February, 2024 
6.30 pm 

 
 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 
Development Control Committee DATE - 7-02-24 Page 2 of 3 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 
COMMITTEE 
 
ROOMS 2 & 3, BURNLEY TOWN 
HALL 
 
Wednesday, 7th February, 2024 at 6.30 
pm 

 
Members of the public may ask a question, make a statement, or present a petition 
relating to any agenda item or any matter falling within the remit of the committee. 
 
Notice in writing of the subject matter must be given to the Head of Legal & 
Democracy by 5.00pm three days before the meeting.  Forms can be obtained for 
this purpose from the reception desk at Burnley Town Hall, Manchester Road or at 
the Contact Centre, Parker Lane, Burnley or from the web at: Request To Speak 
form. You can also register to speak via the online agenda.  Requests will be dealt 
with in the order in which they are received. 
 
There is limited space for members of the public to observe the meeting.  Priority 
will be given to those who have registered to speak on an application  If you wish 
to attend the meeting we advise that you contact democracy@burnley.gov.uk in 
advance of the meeting. 
 

A G E N D A 
  
1. Apologies   
 To receive any apologies for absence.   
2. Minutes  5 - 12 
 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the previous meeting.   
3. Additional Items of Business   
 To determine whether there are any additional items of business which, 

by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should be 
considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

 

 
4. Declaration of Interest   
 To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to any item 

on the agenda in accordance with the provision of the Code of Conduct 
and/or indicate if S106 of the Local Government Finance Act applies to 
them. 

 

 
5. Exclusion of the Public   
 To determine during which items, if any, the public are to be excluded 

from the meeting. 
 

 

 

http://burnley.moderngov.co.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13234
http://burnley.moderngov.co.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13234
mailto:democracy@burnley.gov.uk


 

 
Development Control Committee DATE - 7-02-24 Page 3 of 3 
 

6. List of Deposited Plans and Applications  13 - 14 
 To consider reports on planning applications for development permission:   

a) FUL/2022/0629 - Land West of Heckenhurst Avenue Burnley 
 

15 - 48 
 

b) FUL/2023/0325 - The Lawrence Hotel, 28 Church Street, 
Padiham 
 

49 - 56 

 
c) LBC/2023/0326 - The Lawrence Hotel, 28 Church Street, 

Padiham 
 

57 - 64 

 
7. Decisions taken under the Scheme of Delegation  65 - 78 
 To receive for information a list of delegated decisions taken since the 

last meeting.  
 

 

 
8. Appeals & Other Decisions - for information  

 
 

79 - 84 

 
MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEE  
 

 

Councillor Saeed Chaudhary (Chair) 
Councillor Christine Sollis (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Gordon Birtwistle 
Councillor Scott Cunliffe 
Councillor Sue Graham 
Councillor John Harbour 
Councillor Bill Horrocks 
Councillor Alan Hosker 
 

Councillor Martyn Hurt 
Councillor Shah Hussain 
Councillor Jacqueline Inckle 
Councillor Syeda Kazmi 
Councillor Anne Kelly 
Councillor Lubna Khan 
Councillor Paul Reynolds 
Councillor Mike Steel 

 
PUBLISHED Tuesday, 30 January 2024 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Development Control Committee 07/12/2023  Page 1 of 7 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 
COMMITTEE 
 
BURNLEY TOWN HALL 
 
Thursday, 7th December, 2023 at 6.30 pm 
 

 
 

PRESENT  
 

 

MEMBERS  
 Councillors C Sollis (Chair), G Birtwistle, S Cunliffe, S Graham, J Harbour, 

B Horrocks, A Hosker, M Hurt, S Hussain, J Inckle, A Kelly, P Reynolds and 
M Steel 

 
OFFICERS   
 Laura Golledge  Planning Manager 
 Joshua Parkinson  Principal Planner 
 Carol Eddleston  Democracy Officer 
 Mollie Boothman  Legal Officer 

 
  

54. Apologies  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Chaudhary. 
  

55. Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the last meeting held on 9th November 2023 were approved as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair. 
  

56. Additional Items of Business  
 
There were no additional items of business. 
  

57. Declaration of Interest  
 
Councillor Kelly declared a other interest (prejudicial) in minute no 60 [agenda item 6a)]. In 
accordance with the Code of Conduct for Members she was permitted to address the 
committee on the matter before leaving the room for the duration of the debate and vote. 
  

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 

 
Development Control Committee 07/12/2023  Page 2 of 7 
 

Councillor Cunliffe declared a other interest (personal) in minute no 61 [agenda item 6b]. In 
accordance with the Code of Conduct for Members he was permitted to remain in the room 
and take part in the debate and vote.  
  

58. Exclusion of the Public  
 
There were no items on the agenda from which the public were excluded. 
  

59. List of Deposited Plans and Applications  
 
The following members of the public attended the meeting and addressed the Committee 
under the Right to Speak Policy: 
  
Gary Dawes - FUL/2023/0432 - 4 Lindsay Park Worsthorne-with-Hurstwood Lancashire 
Loren Durkin - FUL/2023/0432 - 4 Lindsay Park Worsthorne-with-Hurstwood Lancashire 
  
RESOLVED: That the list of deposited plans be dealt with in the manner shown in these  
minutes. 
  

60. PIP/2023/0648 - Land Between Hill Farm And Copucobana Halifax Road 
Briercliffe  

 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 
Land between Hill Farm and Copucobana, Halifax Road, Briercliffe, Burnley, BB10 3QS 
Application for permission in principle for construction of one dwelling 
  
Councillor Kelly addressed the committee as a member of the public and then left the 
meeting for the remainder of the item. In accordance with the Code of Conduct for 
Members she took no part in the debate or vote. 
  
Decision 
  
That the application be approved subject to the following informatives. 
  
Informatives 
  

1.    Article 35 – Positive and Proactive Planning  
  
The Local Planning Authority have worked positively and proactively with the 
applicant’s agent by raising areas of concern relating to the flood risk sequential test 
with them and the Environment Agency. This has led to a recommendation of 
approval.  
  

2.    Technical Details Consent  
  
Please note, an application for approval of technical details consent must be made 
not later than three years from the date of this permission.  
  
Beyond the national information requirements, it is recommended that the following 
local information requirements will likely be applicable:  
  

Page 6



 

 
Development Control Committee 07/12/2023  Page 3 of 7 
 

i.               Biodiversity Survey and Report;  
ii.              Flood Risk Assessment;  
iii.             Landscaping Scheme;  
iv.            Parking and Access Arrangements;  
v.              Refuse and Recycling Statement;  
vi.            Tree Survey/Arboricultural Implications Assessment; and  
vii.           Utilities Statement and Foul Sewage Assessment (including Surface Water).  

  
It is also recommended that you respond to the consultation responses 
received on the application and previous approval reference PIP/2020/0581. 

  
Councillor Kelly returned to the room. 
  

61. FUL/2023/0432 - 4 Lindsay Park Worsthorne-with-Hurstwood Lancashire  
 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
New build detached house to be built on land at number 4 Lindsay Park 
4 Lindsay Park, Worsthorne-with-Hurstwood, Burnley, BB10 3RR 
  
Councillor Cunliffe declared a other interest (personal). In accordance with the Code of 
Conduct for Members he remained in the room for the duration of the item and participated 
in the vote. 
  
Decision 
  
That the application be approved subject to the following conditions. 
  
Conditions and Reasons 
  
1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
  
Reason: In accordance with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by the Planning Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
  
2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans and 
supporting documents listed on this notice below. 
           
Reason: To ensure the development is implemented in accordance with the approved plans 
and to avoid ambiguity. 
  
3. Notwithstanding details shown on submitted plans, the dwelling shall not be rendered 
until the colour of said render has been agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
  
Reason: To ensure that the dwelling is rendered in a colour that is sympathetic to its 
surroundings, in the interests of visual amenity. 
  
Highways 
  
4. Construction of the approved dwelling shall not commence until two car parking spaces 
in the front garden of No.4 Lindsay Park have been completed and are available for use of 

Page 7



 

 
Development Control Committee 07/12/2023  Page 4 of 7 
 

occupants of and visitors to No.4 Lindsay Park.  The parking spaces shall be surfaced in a 
solid, permeable material and so retained. The two parking spaces shall thereafter remain 
available for parking of vehicles associated with No.4 Lindsay Park.  
  
Reason: To ensure satisfactory levels of appropriately constructed off-street parking are 
achieved within the development and to avoid unnecessary parking on the highway to the 
detriment of highway safety, and in accordance with policy IC3 of Burnley`s Local Plan July 
2018. 
  
5. The dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied until two car parking spaces have 
been completed and are available for use by its occupants and visitors.  The parking 
spaces shall be surfaced in a solid, permeable material and so retained. The two parking 
spaces shall thereafter remain available for parking of vehicles associated with the dwelling 
hereby approved. 
  
Reason: To ensure satisfactory levels of appropriately constructed off-street parking are 
achieved within the development and to avoid unnecessary parking on the highway to the 
detriment of highway safety, and in accordance with policy IC3 of Burnley`s Local Plan July 
2018. 
  
6.  The parking areas hereby approved shall be kept available for the parking of vehicles 
ancillary to the enjoyment of the household(s) and shall not be used for any use that would 
preclude the ability of their use for the parking of private motor vehicles, whether or not 
permitted by the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 or any order amending or revoking and re-enacting that order. 
  
Reason: To ensure satisfactory levels of appropriately constructed off-street parking are 
achieved within the development and to avoid unnecessary parking on the highway to the 
detriment of highway safety, and in accordance with policy IC3 of Burnley`s Local Plan July 
2018. 
  
7. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until an electric vehicle 
charging point has been installed; and shall thereafter be maintained.  This shall be fitted in 
line with the DfT guidance regarding Electric Vehicle Charging in Residential and Non-
residential buildings, which states charge points must have a minimum power rating output 
of 7kW and be fitted with a universal socket that can charge all types of electric vehicles. 
  
Reason: To support sustainable transport objectives and to contribute to a reduction in 
harmful vehicle emissions. 
  
8.  Notwithstanding details shown on the submitted plans, the visibility splays identified on 
Drawing No. 15 shall be maintained such that no obstruction in excess of 900mm in height 
shall exist at ant time bar cars parked on the approved driveways.  The visibility splays shall 
be retained for the lifetime of the development. 
  
Reason:  In the interests of highway safety. 
  
9. No construction work shall take place on the development hereby approved outside the 
hours of 8am to 6pm Monday to Friday, 8am to 1pm on Saturday and not at any time on 
Sundays and Bank Holidays. Where permission is sought for works to be carried out 
outside the hours stated, applications in writing must be made with at least seven days’ 
notice to the Local Planning Authority. 

Page 8



 

 
Development Control Committee 07/12/2023  Page 5 of 7 
 

  
Reason: to protect the amenities of nearby residents in accordance with policy NE5 and 
SP5 of the adopted Local Plan. 
  
10. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition or site clearance, 
until a Construction Management Plan (CMP) or Construction Method Statement (CMS) 
has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
approved plan/statement shall provide: 
  
Details of the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors. 
Details of loading and unloading of plant and materials. 
Arrangements for turning of vehicles within the site where necessary.  
Swept path analysis showing access for the largest vehicles regularly accessing the site 
and measures to ensure adequate space is available and maintained, including any 
necessary temporary traffic management measures, where necessary. 
Measures to protect vulnerable road users (pedestrians and cyclists). 
The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and 
facilities for public viewing, where appropriate. 
Wheel washing facilities. 
Measures to deal with dirt, debris, mud, or loose material deposited on the highway 
because of construction. 
Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction. 
Details of a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works. 
Construction vehicle routing. 
Delivery, demolition, and construction working hours.  
  
The approved Construction Management Plan or Construction Method Statement shall be 
adhered to throughout the construction period for the development.  
  
Reason: In the interests of the safe operation of the adopted highway during the demolition 
and construction phases.  
  
11.No building or use hereby permitted shall be occupied or use commenced until drop 
kerbs have been installed at the carriageway edge and a vehicle cross-over constructed 
across the footway (and/or verge) fronting the site in accordance with the approved plans 
and the Lancashire County Council Specification for Construction of Estate Roads, to be 
retained in that form thereafter for the lifetime of the development.  
  
Reason: In the interests of pedestrian safety and accessibility 
  
12.No building or use hereby permitted shall be occupied or use commenced until the 
footway (and/or verge) has been reinstated to full kerb height, where any vehicle 
crossover(s) are redundant, in accordance with the approved plans and the Lancashire 
County Council Specification for Construction of Estate Roads, to be retained in that form 
thereafter for the lifetime of the development. 
  
Reason: To maintain the proper construction of the highway and in the interest of 
pedestrian safety. 
  
13. There shall be no burning of construction-derived waste or other materials within the 
curtilage of the premises. 

Page 9



 

 
Development Control Committee 07/12/2023  Page 6 of 7 
 

  
Reason: to protect the amenities of nearby residents in accordance with policy NE5 and 
SP5 of the adopted Local Plan. 
  
14. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification), no door, window, dormer window or rooflight other than those expressly 
authorised by this permission shall be constructed without Planning Permission obtained 
from the Local Planning Authority. 
  
Reason: To ensure the privacy for adjacent occupiers, in accordance with Policy HS4 of the 
Local Plan and the NPPF. 
  
15. Notwithstanding details shown within the application, the dwelling shall not be occupied 
until details of both foul and surface water drainage have been submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority, approved in writing by the LPA and have been implemented in full.  The 
elements of drainage so implemented shall be retained thereafter to the satisfaction of the 
Local Planning Authority.  For the avoidance of doubt the site shall be drained utilising a 
separate system for foul and surface water, and surface water shall be discharged in a 
sustainable manner in accordance with the Hierarchy of Drainage Options stated below: 
  
•         into the ground (infiltration); 
•         to a surface water body; 
•         to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system; 
•         to a combined sewer. 
  
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure satisfactory drainage in accordance 
with Policies CC4 and CC5 of the adopted Burnley Local Plan, National Planning Practice 
Guidance and the NPPF. 
  
  
Notes 
  
This consent requires the construction, improvement or alteration of an access to the public 
highway. Under the Highways Act 1980 Section 171 Lancashire County Council as the 
Highway Authority must specify the works to be carried out. Only a contractor approved by 
the Highway Authority can carry out these works. Therefore, before any works can start, the 
applicant must contact the Highway Authority on highways@lancashire.gov.uk to ascertain 
the details of such an agreement. More information can be found on Lancashire County 
Council’s website at http://www.lancashire.gov.uk/roads-parking-and-travel/roads/vehicle-
crossings.aspx 
  
  

62. Decisions taken under the Scheme of Delegation  
 
Members received for information a list of decisions taken under delegation since the last 
meeting. 
  
  
  
  

Page 10



 

 
Development Control Committee 07/12/2023  Page 7 of 7 
 

  
63. Appeal and Other Decisions  

 
Members received for information an update regarding the request to the Secretary of State 
(Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities) for the Crow Wood solar farm. 
 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



BURNLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 
REPORTS ON 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Photograph McCoy Wynne 

 
 
 
 

Part I:  Applications brought for 
Committee consideration 

 
 

7th February 2024 
 
 
 
 

Housing and Development Control 
 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



30

1

RIDDINGS AVENUE

2

15

24

6a

14

24

Path (u
m)

4

15

20

Heckenhurst

1

22

El

11a

2

BROWNSIDE

18

6

COPPERFIELD CLOSE

169

28

S
M

IT
H

Y
F

IE
L

D
 A

V
E

N
U

E

1

12

19

3

13

HECKENHURST AVENUE

11

22

8

15

182

35

11

Sta

5

18

17

32
Lower Cote Cottage

4

5

12

16

32

8

25
Track

2

3

2

26

16

BARNFIE
LD A

VENUE

O
XH

EY CLO
SE

12

8

31

TO
W

NFIELD A
VEN

UE

28

184.8m

8
15

179

10

2

13

Issues

1

2

31

11

21

47

13

19

16

1

G
O

LD
FIELD AVEN

UE

74

1

C
RO

O
KHALG

H AVENU
E

22

23

BROW
NSID

E R
OAD

Pond

18
0

72

21

32

22

25

27

2

1

5

70

16

57

Sub

Ref.

FUL/2022/0629

Part One Plan

Land West Of Heckenhurst Avenue, Burnley
1:2500

Date Printed: 23/01/2024

Paul Gatrell   Head of Housing and Development Control

Housing & Development Control
Town Hall, Manchester Road

Based upon Ordnance Survey mapping with
permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's
Stationery Office © Crown copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown
copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil
proceedings.
© Burnley Borough Council AC0000849998.

0 15 30 45 60 75 m

Scale

Page 15

Agenda Item 6a



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Recommended for Delegation to 
Approve subject to s106 Agreement 

FUL/2022/0629 

Cliviger With Worsthorne Ward 
 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
 
Erection of 36 three and four bedroom dwellings with associated landscaping, car 
parking and access from Heckenhurst Avenue 
Land West Of Heckenhurst Avenue Brownside Burnley  
 
Applicant: Mr R Calderbank, Applethwaite Ltd 
 
1. Background: 
1.1The application is being considered by this Committee due to the number of  

objections from neighbouring properties. 
 
1.2 The proposal is for 36no. two storey houses (10 no. three bedroom and 26no. four 

bedroom) on the site of part of the former reservoir at the west end of Heckenhurst 
Avenue.  The land is currently part of open fields used for grazing. 

 
Aerial view of application site 

       
Source: Design and Access Statement 

 

1.3 The site amounts to approximately 1.55ha and is rectangular in shape and bound 
by existing residential development on Heckenhurst Avenue on its east side, the 
rear gardens to properties on Riddings Avenue to its south side and by open fields 
to its north and west sides. Beyond the site’s boundary to the south west corner of 
the site is a residential development site that has approval for 38no. bungalows 
(land off Smithfield Avenue -FUL/2021/0274). 

 

Page 17



The site slopes from higher ground at its north east side to lower ground to the 
south west of the site. 

 
View across site to rear of Riddings Avenue  View looking south from Heckenhurst Avenue 

   
 

View looking north west towards Pendle Hill  No physical edge to site’s northern boundary  

  
Stone wall to east side of application site adj   

Overgrown land within application site   to track which is also PF No.1211002 

         
 

An overgrown area between the former reservoir wall and the rear boundary of the 
adjacent end dwelling at Heckenhurst Avenue is part of the application site. To the 
southern boundary of the application site, the former reservoir wall to the rear of 
houses on Riddings Avenue is the edge of the application site.  The former 
reservoir wall continues close and in parallel to the remainder of the southern and 
western boundaries of the site.  There is no physical feature within the open field 
to delineate the northern boundary of the application site.  Public Footpath 
1211002 follows the track from the end of Heckenhurst Avenue in a northerly 
direction immediately to the east side of the application site.  

 
1.4 The proposed vehicular access would be formed by extending Heckenhurst   

Avenue into the field to form a new cul-de-sac.  The proposed layout is displayed 

Page 18



below, indicating a spine road with frontage development running east-west and 
short cul-de-sacs running mainly to the north. Peripheral areas of public open 
space are indicated to the western side and northern edge of the site. 

 
Proposed Site Plan 

       

 
 
1.5 The proposed houses are designed with gable roofs, well proportioned elevations,  

heads/cills and some variety through projecting gables, bay windows and 
chimneys to some of the plots.   
Proposed street scenes 

 

 
 

Page 19



The proposed dwellings would be constructed in natural stone and partial render 
to a relatively small number of house types.  Detached single garages and 
driveways are indicated to all plots except the 6no. semi-detached houses that 
would have forecourt parking. 

 
1.6 The proposed scheme would provide 26no. houses that would comply with the 

optional technical M4(2) standard of Building Regulations to achieve adaptable 
homes. All plots would have an electric vehicle charging point. 

 
2    Relevant Policies: 
2.1 Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018) 
 

SP1 – Achieving sustainable development 
SP2 – Housing requirement 2012-2032 
SP4 – Development strategy 
SP5 – Development quality and sustainability 
SP6 – Green infrastructure 
HS1 (HS1/12) – Housing allocations (Former Heckenhurst Reservoir) 
HS2 – Affordable housing provision 
HS3 – Housing density and mix 
HS4 – Housing developments 
NE1 – Biodiversity and ecological networks 
NE4 – Trees, hedgerows and woodland 
NE5 – Environmental protection 
CC4 – Development and flood risk 
CC5 – Surface water management and sustainable drainage systems 
IC1 – Sustainable travel 
IC2 – Managing transport and travel impacts 
IC3 – Car parking standards 
IC4 – Infrastructure and planning contributions 

 
2.2 Material Considerations 

Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (Adopted 
December 2020) 

 
Air Quality Management: Protecting Health and Addressing Climate Change 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (Adopted December 2020) 

 
Planning for Health Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (Adopted October  
2022) 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (2023) 
National Planning Practice Guide 
National Design Guide (2021) 

 
3     Site History: 
3.1  None. 
 
4     Consultation Responses: 
4.1  LCC Highways 

No objection. The general layout is acceptable, however the plans show two 
sections of remote footways at plots 5-6 and 11-13 and it is unlikely that these 

Page 20



sections will be adopted as part of the Section 38 Agreement, should the 
development be put forward for adoption. Additionally, there are two sets of bus 
stops on Brownside Road within the vicinity of the proposed development. In line 
with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) to support sustainable travel 
to and from the site, LCC requests that the two stops located outside 200A and 
187/9 Brownside Road, Worsthorne are upgraded to full EA compliant status as 
part of the proposed development, under a section 278 legal agreement of the 
Highways Act 1980.  Other conditions are requested to require a Construction 
Management Plan, construction deliveries outside peak traffic, wheel washing 
facilities, construction to base course level, completion of vehicular access, 
provision of cycle storage in garages/alternative where no garage, and 
management/maintenance of estate roads. 

 
4.2  LCC Public Rights of way Officer 

No objection. Footpath FP1211002 runs along Heckenhurst Avenue before turning 
north along outer edge of the application boundary. The public right of way is not 
to be used for the storage of materials or plant machinery and remain 
unobstructed at all times.  Any changes in ground level or installation of drainage 
should ensure that surface water is not channelled towards or onto a public right 
of way either within the proposed development site or in close proximity – this is to 
ensure public rights of way are not exposed to potential flooding or future 
maintenance issues. If works relating to the proposed development are likely to 
cause a health and safety risk to users of a public right of way a temporary closure 
order must be made and in effect prior to commencing those works. Applications 
should be made 4 weeks before commencement to avoid delay to the works. If a 
diversion is needed or intended the applicant needs to ensure that the diversion is 
in place prior to any work commencing on a public right of way. If the applicant 
intends landscaping they need to ensure that any trees or bushes are at least 3 
metres away from a public right of way to prevent any health and safety issues 
and potential maintenance issues. 

 
4.3  Lead Local Flood Authority (LCC) 

No objections subject to conditions. An Initial objection which was due to a lack of 
evidence to demonstrate a satisfactory drainage scheme has been withdrawn 
following further information and a survey of the downstream watercourse and 
section of culvert.  The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) request conditions are 
imposed to require off-site culvert improvement works and verification of 
completed works; a detailed final surface water sustainable drainage scheme; a 
construction surface water management plan; a sustainable drainage system 
operation and maintenance manual; and, a verification report of the constructed 
sustainable drainage system. 

 
4.4  United Utilities 

Further comments awaited following re-consultation.  A condition is recommended 
to require details of a sustainable surface water drainage scheme and a foul water 
drainage scheme to be submitted for approval prior to the commencement of 
development. 

 
4.5  The Coal Authority 

The application site does not fall within the defined Development High Risk Area 
and is located instead within the defined Development Low Risk Area.  A Coal 
Mining Risk Assessment is therefore not required. 

Page 21



 
4.6  Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) 

No objections. Although the site is within 2km of the South Pennine Moors 
SPA/SAC designated nature conservation sites, I would not consider that the 
development will have any harmful impacts on the special nature conservation 
interests of the designated sites, because:-  

• there is no direct connectivity between the application site and the designated 
sites; and, 

  • the site is not considered to be functionally linked to the SPA; that is, significant 
numbers of notable bird species associated with the SPA are considered very 
unlikely to use the application site on a regular basis. 

 The site itself supports rather featureless agricultural grassland of limited nature 
conservation value, although it may support small numbers of Lapwing, both in the 
breeding season and during the winter. Given the small numbers of birds involved, 
and the extent of alternative suitable habitat nearby, I would not consider that the 
development will cause any harm to the conservation status of Lapwing. I would 
accept that, given the current landscape status of the site and the fact that new 
landscaping will be introduced to the site, including garden spaces, the 
development can achieve a net gain in local biodiversity over time. I would advise 
that no ground clearance should commence during the optimum time of year for 
nesting birds (including ground nesting birds)(March to August inclusive) unless 
nesting birds have been shown to be absent by a suitably qualified person. 

 
4.7  East Lancashire NHS Trust 

East Lancashire NHS Trust (“the Trust”) currently provides acute, emergency and 
secondary healthcare across Blackburn with Darwen, Burnley, Hyndburn, Pendle, 
Ribble Valley and Rossendale. The impact of non-recurrent (capital) and recurrent 
(service provision) infrastructure costs as a direct result of new housing 
development are very significant and as such a contribution is now sought to 
address the direct impact which the application will have on the Trust. Assuming 
an average of 2.3 people per dwelling, the Trust state that the proposal would 
support a population increase of 85 persons [based on 37 dwellings as first 
proposed] and request a commuted sum on £63,141.00 towards their services to 
cater for a three year time lag in obtaining central funding. The Trust consider that 
this request meets the requirements of the appropriate tests. 

 
4.8  LCC Schools Planning Team 

Lancashire County Council is responsible for the provision of school places across 
the 12 county districts. The county has been facing significant increases in the 
birth rate at the same time as capital funding from the Department for Education 
has been significantly reduced. In accordance with Lancashire County Council's 
'School Place Provision Strategy', the following will apply: Where the growth in 
pupil numbers is directly linked to housing development and existing school places 
are not sufficient to accommodate the potential additional pupils that the 
development may yield, Lancashire County Council would seek to secure 
developer contributions towards additional school places. Only by securing such 
contributions (which, depending upon the scale of development, may also include 
a contribution of a school site), can Lancashire County Council mitigate against 
the impact upon the education infrastructure which the development may have.  

 
An assessment indicates that: 

Page 22



1. Latest projections for the local primary schools show there to be 219 places 
available in 5 years' time, with additional planning approvals expected to 
generate a demand for a further 33 school places. There are also pending 
applications expected to generate demand for a further 34 school places. With 
an expected pupil yield of 12 pupils from this development, we would not be 
seeking a contribution from the developer in respect of primary places. 

2. Latest projections for the local secondary schools show there to be 25 places 
available in 5 years' time. These projections take into account the current 
numbers of pupils in the schools, the expected take up of pupils in future years 
based on the local births, the expected levels of inward and outward migration 
based upon what is already occurring in the schools and the housing 
development within the local 5 year Housing Land Supply document, which 
already have planning permission. The expected yield from this development is 
5 secondary school places. Approved developments are expected to generate 
demand for 18 additional places. There are a number of additional housing 
developments which will impact upon this group of schools which are pending a 
decision or are pending appeal. At the time of the assessment, LCC will not be 
seeking a contribution for secondary school places. [If a request was made for 
5 secondary school places then it would amount to £123,765.00]. 
Summary: 
Based upon the latest assessment, taking into account all approved 
applications, LCC will not be seeking a contribution for primary school places or 
secondary school places. However, as there are a number of applications that 
are pending a decision that could impact on this development should they be 
approved prior to a decision being made on this development the claim for 
Secondary school provision could increase up to maximum of 5 places. 

   
4.9 Contaminated Land Officer 

  No objections.  Recommend a condition to require a scheme to deal with the risks   
associated with contamination of the site. In addition, following completion of the 
landfill gas monitoring programme a verification report demonstrating completion 
of any necessary works must be submitted for approval. 

 
4.10 Environmental Health 

No objection in principle to the proposed development of the site, regarding noise, 
light, dust or odour nuisance, but would recommend the inclusion of a number of 
conditions as part of the approval if granted: - a site-specific Construction 
Environmental Management Plan to demonstrate the adoption and use of the best 
practicable means to reduce the effects of noise, vibration, dust and site lighting.  

 
4.11 Greenspaces and Amenities 

  As there is no provision of on-site usable recreational public open space within the 
development, a commuted sum payment towards an existing or proposed open 
space facility nearby is requested in accordance with Policy HS4 and the 
Developer Contributions SPD. The 37 dwellings will have 134 bedrooms in total 
which (at £350 per bedroom) would amount to £46,900.   Request that a 
commuted sum is used to create a permissive route to Brun Valley Forest Park 
from Worsthorne Recreation Ground and to re-develop the dilapidated pump track 
on Worsthorne Recreation Ground. Improved links to the Brun Valley Forest Park 
is highlighted in the Council's Green Infrastructure Strategy as a priority as part of 
the Greenway Routes recommendations and the suggested route has been in 
discussion for over 20 years. The permissive route would provide a safe off-road 

Page 23



extension to existing multi-user paths in the locality and link in with the Council's 
aim to improve local cycling and walking infrastructure across Burnley. It could be 
used by pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders. 

 
4.12  Burnley Civic Trust 

Wish to support the use of a s106 agreement contribution to ensure that the 
nearby non-vehicle pathway/bridle path/cyclists route from Rowley to Worsthorne 
is developed and improved to ensure there is a safer route available to those 
permitted users avoiding the increasing busy Brunshaw Rd and Brownside Rd 
roads which new developments are putting increased pressure upon. Non-
motorised traffic needs to be encouraged and the proposed route is an important 
step forward. 

 
4.13  Worsthorne Parish Council 

A letter expressing concerns and observations is summarised below: 

• principal concern is in regard to the increased traffic flow along Brownside 
Road and adjoining streets, particularly at peak times such as from 7:00am to 
9:00am, 3:15pm to 3:45pm (end of school time), and from 5:00pm to 6:30pm. 

• the need to consider the cumulative impact of multiple developments, and the 
particular impact of traffic generated at peak times which could be regarded as 
severe. Refer to approvals for development at Brownside Road 
(FUL/2020/0186), Butchers Farm (FUL/2020/0321) and Smithyfield Avenue 
(FUL/2021/0274) which total 84 dwellings This figure does not include the 
application under consideration (FUL/2022/0629).  

• The Parish Council disagree with the conclusions of the LCC Education 
Contribution Assessment and consider that the capacity in terms of primary 
school places will be exceeded and request further evaluation. 

Worsthorne Parisch Council has been consulted on amended plans and repeated 
its earlier comments.  

 
4.14  County Councillor Cosima Towneley 

In summary, a request is made to improve off-road provision and create 
opportunities for exercise, sport and recreation, by contributing to a route to link 
Worsthorne Recreation Ground (WRG) to the Forest Park along a route which has 
been in discussion for over 20 years. The establishment of this route would also 
create a safe corridor to the Pennine Bridleway/Mary Towneley Loop National 
Trails and would be in line with the Burnley Green Spaces innovative programme 
of multi-user, off road routes into and around the town linking urban and rural 
areas.  
Following re-consultation, a further response states that Councillor Towneley has 
no objection in principle but requests that the following be taken into account: 

1. That a s106 contribution is reserved for the implementation of a 
bridleway/greenway between Worsthorne Recreational ground, Heckness 
Farm and Rowley Farm to create safe, multiuser (including horse), off road 
access from the north side of Worsthorne to the central greenways in the 
urban centre via Rowley, Netherwood and Bank Hall. 

2. That there is adequate supervision of conditions with regard to wheel washes 
and road cleaning, noting that this is a particularly wet site. 

3. That adequate on-site parking is prepared and operational before any ground 
preparation for housing goes forward. 

 
4.15  Publicity 

Page 24



Eleven letters of objection from occupiers at Heckenhurst Avenue and Riddings 
Avenue (with the exception of one letter from elsewhere in Burnley) were received 
to the original neighbour notification.  A further 11 letters of objection (from 
occupiers at Heckenhurst Avenue and Riddings Avenue) have been received 
following re-notification in respect of amended plans.  This has increased the total 
number of households that have objected to the application to 16.  A summary of 
the points of objection is provided below: 
 

• Loss of greenspace, greenfield site, impact on landscape; 

• Destruction of countryside and wildlife; 

• Uninterrupted view of Trough of Bowland across Pendle towards Harle 
Syke will be permanently lost; 

• Over-development of village, being turned into a town; 

• Plans indicate that they are looking to build more houses at a later date, 
eating into more greenspace; 

• Houses are not needed; 

• There are plenty of brownfield sites that could be used; 

• Does not tackle the problem of housing supply for low income households; 

• The houses on this site would not be Affordable; 

• The site is a wildlife haven for wildlife such as lapwings, skylarks, bats, 
owls, red bunting, curlew, hares, pheasants, badgers, foxes and deer; 

• There are nesting birds in the field through spring and summer; 

• Will reduce the biodiversity of the borough; 

• Increase in traffic to dangerous levels and will increase the likelihood of 
accidents; 

• Will generate 70+ more cars driving in and out of Heckenhurst Avenue; 

• Residential roads are already busy and approved development at 
Smithyfield will increase traffic and hazards, making it unsafe for children 
playing out and for elderly people who live here; 

• Brownside Road can barely cope with the existing traffic, it is reduced in 
part to single file traffic due to parked cars, causes congestion, 
inconvenience and accidents/near misses; 

• Alternative routes out of the village cannot accommodate the traffic; 

• Speeding traffic on Brownside Road, dangerous bend at access to 
Heckenhurst Avenue; 

• Will increase traffic congestion around Worsthorne Primary School, causes 
gridlock at start and close of school day; 

• Absence of safe crossing on Brownfield Road for school children walking 
from Heckenhurst Avenue (lollypop person not replaced) and pavement on 
one side of road only in places;  

• Surrounding roads becoming a rat-run; 

• Insufficient car parking for proposed houses; 

• Dwindling bus service and is unreliable; 

• Whole infrastructure in this area is at its limit, road traffic electricity capacity 
and services; 

• Surrounding schools are already full(Worsthorne Primary, Cliviger and 
Brunshaw); 

• Strain on local doctors/hospitals; 

Page 25



• No consideration has been given to the cumulative impact of development 
in the area (new developments at Red Lees Road, Smithyfield Avenue, 
Brownside Road and Bull and Butcher Farm); 

• Drains and water supplies are in a poor state; 

• Drainage in the area struggles to cope with winter weather and increase in 
surface water run-off will make this worse; 

• Additional flows into the River Brun will increase the danger of flooding 
further downstream; 

• Loss of privacy, will result in being overlooked; 

• Proximity and height of proposed houses will be imposing and have an 
overbearing impact and lead to a significant loss of light to the garden; 

• Loss of peace and quiet; 

• Impact on neighbourhood from disruption during construction from traffic, 
noise, dust, pollution and muddy roads; 

• Concern over the integrity of the existing stone reservoir wall and who will 
be responsible for its maintenance; 

• Foundations due to former reservoir will be difficult; 

• Concern over elevated levels of ground gases at the site and the possibility 
of contamination from landfill site. 

 
4.16 In addition to the number of neighbour letters that have been received a letter 

relating to ecology matters has been received from Mr Peter Hornby, the former 
Chairman of the Burnley Wildlife Conservation Forum which has been disbanded.  
The letter objects to the application and, in summary, states that:- 

• The land comprises semi-natural grassland which forms part of the 
adjoining attractive countryside.  This would be inappropriate excessive 
urban sprawl in the Pennine landscape which functions as an important 
valuable greenspace and wildlife corridor, separating the existing built-up 
areas of Brownside and Pike Hill. 

• The site’s grassland is valuable wildlife habitat because it is used as a 
resource for foraging for food by a range of bird species, in particular, 
upland breeding species, notably Meadow Pipit, Skylark, Curlew and 
Lapwing.  The submitted Ecological Appraisal confirms that lapwing is 
breeding adjacent to this plot of land and will therefore be using the site’s 
grassland for foraging for food. 

• The proposed high density of development leaves inappropriate and 
inadequate landscaping and scope for mitigation for a loss of open semi-
natural grassland habitat and will result in a significant loss of biodiversity 
resource. 

 
5      Planning and Environmental Considerations: 

 
5.1   Principle of Proposal 

Policy SP1 of Burnley’s Local Plan, adopted in July 2018, states that the Council 
will take a positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). It will 
work proactively with applicants and to find solutions which mean that proposals 
can be approved wherever possible to secure development that improves the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the Borough.  It also echoes the 
guidance in the NPPF by stating that “Planning applications that accord with the 

Page 26



policies in this Local Plan... will be approved without delay, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise”. 

 
5.2   Policy SP2 sets out the Housing Requirement for the borough between 2012 and 

2032, identifying a net additional requirement of 3,880 dwellings, of which there is 
a residual requirement of 1,798 dwellings to be met by site allocations.  Policy 
HS1 identifies those sites that have been chosen through the local plan process to 
meet this requirement.  The application site is one of these allocated sites for 
housing, identified as Policy HS1/12 – Former Heckenhurst Reservoir (1.38ha) 
identified as a Greenfield site. The extent of the allocation is indicated on the 
Policies Map of Burnley’s Local Plan: 
 
 Extract from Policies Map (East) of Burnley’s Local Plan 

          
This application site consists of all the land with the allocation HS1/12. 
  
Policy HS1/12 states that the site is acceptable for around 35 dwellings.  The 
application as amended proposes a total of 36 dwellings [reduced by one dwelling 
since the application was first submitted] and this accords with the approximate 
number stated in the policy allocation. Policy HS1/12 contains a number of site 
specific policy requirements and design principles which will be considered in 
relation to the detail of the proposals. In terms of the principle of residential 
development, the proposal reflects the parameters of the allocation, in which case 
it is acceptable in principle.   

 

5.3   Design, appearance and open space provision 
Policy SP5 states, amongst other things, that the Council will seek high standards 
of design, construction and sustainability in all types of development.  The site 
specific policy requirements and design principles that relate to the allocation are 
copied below: 

Page 27



 
 

 
The Supporting Information also states that: “This is greenfield site in the open 
countryside. A high quality scheme is expected in line with Policies SP5 and lower 
density housing is preferred not only to provide quality and choice, but to provide a 
greater opportunity for landscaping, planting and minimising impacts.”  All 
proposed dwellings would be 3 or 4 bedroom detached and semi-detached 
dwellings which would exceed the minimum 60% stated above. 
 

5.4   The proposed density of the scheme is approximately 23.2 dwellings per hectare 
which is relatively low dense and provides a total of 0.2ha Public Open Space 
which is indicated on the plan below:  
Proposed Public Open Space 

 

Page 28



The amount of public open space (POS) would be consistent with the 
requirements of Policy HS4 which requires a minimum of 0.3ha of POS for every 
50 dwellings (or part thereof).  The location of open space at the south west 
corner of the site would provide a pedestrian link to the site from the approved 
bungalow development site (FUL/2021/0274) and an informal area of landscaped 
greenspace with seating to enjoy views across to Pendle Hill. An informal path 
within the open space along the western and northern boundaries of the site 
would provide connectivity [also using part of the estate roads] to the Public 
Footpath to the east of the site.  The site specific policy requirements refer to  
landscaping and screening to the northern and western boundaries of the site.  
The proposed areas of POS would provide appropriate boundary tree planting. 
Landscape Proposal 

 
Three Category C (low quality) hawthorn trees would be removed as part of the 
development. The proposed new tree planting around the outer boundaries of the 
site and within the areas of POS and streets, would more than compensate for the 
minor loss and respond to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which 
states that streets should be tree lined.   
 

5.5   The proposed houses are two storey which is consistent with the scale of 
development in the surrounding residential area and have been designed with 
gable roofs, well proportioned elevations, head and cills, door surrounds and 
window lights above front doors, detailing such as corbels, chimneys to some 
dwellings and a variety in house types. Natural stone is the predominant facing 
material with a small proportion of render to some house types.  This is indicated 
in the example of a partial street scene below:  

 
 

 

Page 29



Examples of house types 

       
5.6   The use of single garages to the side of plots also helps to create more variety in 

spacing between houses and contributes to the quality of the scheme. All plots 
would be fitted with an electric vehicle charger and more than 20% of the 
dwellings would comply with the optional technical standards in Part M4(2) of the 
Building Regulations to provide adaptable homes. 
 

5.7   The proposed houses would be constructed to comply with Part L1 of the Building 
Regulations 2021 and achieve a high standard of energy efficiency with a fabric 
first approach to include mechanical ventilation heat recovery and photovoltaic 
(PV) panels to all plots.   
 

5.8   The proposed design and layout would achieve a high quality of development that 
is appropriate for the site and would comply with Policies SP5 and HS4.  The 
future maintenance and management of the proposed public open space, together 
with the perimeter reservoir wall should be secured through a s106 Agreement. 

   
5.9   Impact on residential amenity 

Policy SP5 requires new development to safeguard the residential amenities of 
existing occupiers as well as provide a satisfactory level of amenity for new 
occupiers.  Policy HS4 requires a minimum of 20m between elevations with 
habitable rooms and 15m between a blank gable and habitable rooms.  The 
applicant has reduced the number of proposed dwellings by one unit and made 
some minor adjustments to the layout to ensure that adequate privacy and outlook 
can be achieved for the development. 

 
5.10  In the case of the south-east portion of the site, the distance between the rear  

Separation distances to existing houses 

       Page 30



 
elevation of existing houses and the blank gable elevations of plots 30 and 36 
shown above would be over 20m which exceeds the minimum 15m separation in 
Policy HS4.  In other cases around the site’s perimeter, the separation distances 
required by Policy HS4 are complied with and in many cases are exceeded.  The 
houses are two storey in scale and the height to the ridge of the houses has been 
slightly reduced to ensure the heights are not excessive (maximum height is 
approximately 8.57m to ridge, lowest is approximately 7.84m).  The layout and 
design would therefore satisfactorily protect the outlook, privacy and 
daylight/sunlight of existing neighbouring properties. 
 

5.11 The spacing within the proposed development site would also provide adequate 
privacy and outlook.    
 

5.12 There would be some noise and disruption during construction which can be 
expected but a Construction Management Plan would be required to control the 
noise and dust.  Working hours would also be restricted by condition to 8am-6pm 
Monday to Friday and 8am to 1pm on Saturdays. 
 

5.13 Objections from neighbours have also referred to loss of views which cannot be 
protected, although the proposed scheme would provide open space with seating 
and an informal path for walking from where open views across to Pendle Hill 
would be maintained.  
 

  5.14 The proposal therefore has an acceptable impact on residential amenities and 
would comply with Policies SP5 and HS4. 

 
5.15  Impact on traffic, highway safety and parking 

Policy IC1 seeks to promote sustainable travel and safe pedestrian, cycle and 
vehicular access for new developments.  The National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) has similar requirements and states that it should be ensured that any 
significant impacts on the transport network (in terms of capacity and congestion) 
or on highway safety can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree.  It 
also states that development should only be prevented or refused on highway 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  Policy IC3 
requires car parking to be provided in accordance with the standards at Appendix 
9 which require two spaces a 3 bedroom property and three spaces for a 4 
bedroom property. 

5.16 Neighbour objections that have been received refer to the limited options for motor 
traffic to Worsthorne, the congestion around Worsthorne primary school and the 
parking on Brownside Road which confines a stretch of the road to single width.  
The main route for motor traffic to Worsthorne is along Brownside Road and it is 
acknowledged that parking on one side of the road does affects the free flow of 
traffic, although with intervisibility from each end of parked cars, the waiting time to 
pass parked cars is limited and the local highway authority has raised no 
objections and not indicated that the relative small increase in traffic using 
Brownside Road as a result of this proposal would affect the capacity of the 
highway network or highway safety.  Notably, the amount of traffic that would 
result from this development would be limited and would not significantly affect the 
quantity of traffic or the amount of traffic during peak periods.   

Page 31



5.17 The congestion that is referred to around the entrance to Worsthorne Primary 
School is a matter of safety in general to be dealt with but would not make 
development of this site unacceptable.  There are footways to link the site to 
Worsthorne and the school and the local highway authority has requested 
improvements to two bus stops on Brownside Road to promote the use of regular 
bus services between Worsthorne and Burnley.   

5.18 The applicant has agreed to a contribution for the creation of a greenway route 
between Rowley (Brun Valley Forest Park) to the Worsthorne Recreation Ground 
as indicated below:- 

Proposed route of Greenway 

       

This is expected to be a permissive route for use by walking, cycling and on 
horseback.  The creation of the new route is identified as a priority in the Council’s 
Green Infrastructure Strategy. This will provide connectivity from the site along the 
route of the public footpath 1211002 to the east side of the site to the proposed 
greenway which will enhance access to the countryside and create a non-traffic 
route to Worsthorne Recreation Ground. This, together with bus stop 
improvements would increase accessibility and promote sustainable travel in 
accordance with Policy IC1 and the NPPF. 

5.19 Each of the proposed dwellings would have the required level of off-street parking 
as required by Policy IC3 and Appendix 9.   The proposal would not therefore lead 
to an increase in on-street parking elsewhere.  A condition is recommended to 
restrict the use of garages in order that they remain available for the parking of a 
car.   

5.20 The proposal would not therefore unacceptably increase traffic on the highway 
network or significantly affect highway safety.  The creation of a greenway route 
for walking and cycling would improve connectivity with Worsthorne and the 
surrounding area and the improvement of local bus stops would also promote 
sustainable travel.  The proposal would therefore be in accordance with Polices 
IC1, IC3 and the NPPF.    

5.21  Affordable Housing provision 
Policy HS2 requires affordable housing on sites of over 10 dwellings and for this to 
be provided on-site where there a reasonable justification for this.  The Developer 
Contributions SPD indicates that a 10% contribution of the development should be 
achieved.  This would equate to 3.6 Affordable Homes which has been rounded to 

Page 32



4 Affordable Homes. The applicant has agreed to the provision of 4 Affordable 
Homes and indicated where these will be located in the layout copied below: 
Proposed Affordable Housing Units 

        
5.22 The 4no. affordable houses reflect the design characteristics of the development  

Proposed Affordable Homes 

        

                

Page 33



 
as a whole and each provides a three bedroom house which would be transferred 
to a Registered Provider (RP) for Shared Ownership tenure.  

 
5.23  Shared ownership tenure would be appropriate for this site and provide a number 

of quality homes under this tenure which would add to the variety and range of 
affordable homes in the borough.  A s106 Agreement is necessary to secure the 
agreed scheme. 

 
5.24  Impact on ecology 

Policy NE1 states that all development proposals should, as appropriate to their 
nature and scale, seek opportunities to maintain and actively enhance biodiversity 
in order to provide net gains where possible as well as protecting Protected 
Species, Priority Habitat and local and regional sites and maintaining Ecological 
Networks.  Policy HS1/12 states that Protected Species have been recorded on 
this site and that an ecological survey is required to identify any Protected Species 
and South Pennines Special Protection Area (SPA) qualifying species and to 
address these issues. 

5.25 A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal has been submitted with the application which 
details and assesses survey results from the site.  The report notes that the site 
consists of poor semi-improved grassland and that there are no statutory or non-
statutory designations which either directly or indirectly affect the site.  GMEU 
accept the findings of the report and affirm that although the site is within 2km of 
the South Pennines Special Protection Area (SPA) and Special Areas of 
Conservation (SAC), it will lead to any harmful impacts on the special nature 
conservation interests of the designated sites because there is no direct 
connectivity between the sites and the site is not functionally linked to the SPA.  
GMEU assert that significant numbers of notable bird species associated with the 
SPA are considered very unlikely to use the application site on a regular basis.  
The site is of only limited nature conservation value and although it is noted that it 
may support small numbers of lapwing in the breeding season and winter, the 
small number of birds involved and the availability and extent of alternative 
suitable habitat nearby would not result in any harm to the conservation status of 
the lapwing.   

5.26 The survey also assessed other protected species and wildlife, such as great 
crested newts, badgers, bats, brown hare and other birds and plant species.  It 
found that the plant species assemblages are all common in the local area and 
are of low ecological value, stating that domestic gardens and sympathetically 
landscaped open space is considered to offer habitat of equal or greater 
ecological value.  Whilst birds were recorded, suggesting nesting on fields 
adjacent to the site, there is no indication of nesting on the site.  Low numbers of 
common bat species were recorded foraging adjacent to the site but no bats were 
found to be roosting on the site.  No other notable or protected species were found 
to be present or adversely affected by the development.  GMEU advise that no 
ground clearance should commence during the optimum time of year for nesting 
birds (March to August inclusive) unless bird nests have shown to be absent 
(including a check for ground nesting).   

5.27 In respect of overall biodiversity and achieving a net gain (in accordance with 
Policy NE1), GMEU advise that, given the current landscape status of the site 
and the fact that new landscaping will be introduced, including garden spaces, 

Page 34



the development can achieve a net gain in local biodiversity over time. The 
submitted landscape scheme has been amended to include further trees to the 
site boundaries and a condition to provide a scheme of biodiversity enhancement 
measures (bird and bat boxes) would also contribute to a net gain in biodiversity.  
With these provisions, the development would not adversely affect Protected 
Species or biodiversity and complies with Policy NE1. 

5.28  Impact on drainage 
Policy CC4 seeks to ensure that new development does not result in increased 
flood risk either on the development site or elsewhere.  Policy CC5 requires 
surface water discharge to be appropriately managed and discharge to be 
restricted through measures including SuDS. 

5.29  In this case, the site falls within Flood Zone 1 where there is the lowest risk to 
flooding.  The red line application site includes land to the south of the site for the 
drainage connections to the approved development of 38 bungalows at 
Smithyfield Avenue (FUL/2021/0274) which flows downstream to the River Brun 
adjacent to Brownside Mill.  The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) first objected 
to the application and requested further information and evidence that the 
downstream route and culvert at Brownside Mill is capable of receiving the 
surface water flows from the site.  This is a particular concern as flooding events 
are known to occur at Brownside Mill.  The applicant has carried out a survey of 
the culvert under Brownside Mill and found that it has a restricted diameter of 
300mm which is smaller than the inflow at the top of the channel which is a 
525mm diameter outfall pipe.  The applicant proposes to upgrade the culvert at 
Brownside Mill to a specification to be agreed with the LLFA.  The LLFA is 
satisfied that this will provide adequate capacity for the development to be 
drained in accordance with the submitted outline drainage strategy and requests 
conditions to require the off-site culvert improvement works to be carried out and 
completed.  Further conditions are recommended as outlined at sections 4.3 and 
4.4 of the report.  It is also noted that the applicant intends to use a private 
management company for the maintenance and management of the SuDS 
(which includes the attenuation works) and advises that this should be secured 
as part of a s106 Agreement.  

5.30 The proposed drainage which includes an upgrade to the off-site culvert at 
Brownside Mill is therefore satisfactory subject to conditions and is likely to also 
bring about a benefit to the local area by reducing the risk of flooding.  The 
proposal therefore complies with Policies CC4 and CC5. 

5.31  Impact on ground conditions 
Policy NE5 requires development proposals to evaluate environmental risks.  
The former reservoir was infilled from 1993 onwards.  A land investigation and 
remediation strategy (dated April 2023) have been submitted to demonstrate that 
the land is suitable for residential use.  The report finds that the topsoil and made 
ground are suitable for retention and no formal remediation is required for soft 
landscape areas.  Formal remediation is required detailing gas precaution 
measures.  The Council’s Contaminated Land Consultant recommends a 
condition to require a verification report following the completion of the landfill 
gas monitoring programme.  With this provision, the site would be made suitable 
for residential use and would satisfactorily deal with any risks associated with the 
historic infilling of the former reservoir. 

 

Page 35



5.32  Electric vehicle charging points would be installed at all properties which 
promotes the use of electric cars and contributes to mitigating against pollution 
from carbon dioxide emissions.  Measures to protect air quality during 
construction would be dealt with through a Construction Management Plan that 
includes dust control measures. 

 
5.33 Contributions 

Policy IC4 states that development will be required to provide or contribute 
towards the provision of the infrastructure needed to support it.  The Developer 
Contributions SPD provides guidance on the level of contributions (including 
Affordable Housing) that are likely to be viable on housing site allocations and 
other sites in the borough based on the Local Plan Viability Assessment.  This 
provides us with a sound evidence base to determine the ‘ceilings’ for 
contributions.  Where requests are under the ceiling and they are reasonably 
necessary and relevant to make the development acceptable then it is expected 
that these will be agreed with the applicant.  Where there are requests that go 
beyond the ceiling figure then this indicates that the viability of a development 
would be compromised and as such, may lead to problems such as measures to 
reduce overall costs and the quality of the scheme or it may prevent the 
development going ahead.  Where there are multiple requests then priorities 
would normally be made in accordance with the SPD.   

5.34  In this case, the Developer Contributions SPD indicates that 10% of the 
development should be affordable housing.  The applicant has agreed to 
providing this on-site as referred to above.  Contributions are also sought from 
the Head of Greenspaces and Amenities in line with Policy HS4 to provide 
improved play space/equipment for children and to contribute to a new greenway 
route between Rowley Park and Worsthorne Recreation Ground (amounting to a 
total of £60,450).  The local highway authority has requested the improvement of 
two bus stops on Brownside Road which would be agreed through s278 works 
but also fall with the contributions that are calculated.  All these contributions are 
reasonably necessary and relevant to the development and would come within 
the viability ceilings in the Developer Contributions SPD. The applicant has 
agreed to all of these.  

5.35 The applicant has not been asked by the East Lancashire NHS Trust to 
contribute to secondary healthcare.  Similar requests have been previously made 
to the Council where it has been found that the requests, as they stand, do not 
meet the tests set out in Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) Regulations 2010, mainly due to the overall assumption that is made by the 
Trust that the development would directly lead to an increase in 37 [reduced to 
36] households in the Trust area.   

5.36 The Schools Planning Team (LCC) has not requested a contribution to either 
primary or secondary school places but affirmed that their position in respect of 
secondary school place may change in the future. The team were re-consulted 
on the 17th November 2023 and have not issued a further consultation 
response, in which case, there remains no request for a contribution to school 
places.  In the event that a late request is made prior to the committee meeting 
then this is likely to exceed the viability ceilings in the SPD and would require a 
review and prioritisation of contributions.   

5.37 Some neighbour objections refer to a lack of school places (particularly primary 
school places) and infrastructure to support the development.   There is no 

Page 36



evidence of a lack of school places which is a matter for the education authority 
to advise on and no other contributions have been requested.  The Contributions 
that have been agreed with the applicant (4 Affordable houses, £60,450 towards 
a new greenway and improvements to Worsthorne Recreation Ground and 
improvements to 2no. bus stops on Brownside Road) would comply with Policy 
IC4 and the Developer Contributions SPD.   

6      Conclusion 
6.1   The proposed development would provide an appropriate development on a site 

allocated for this purpose and has been sensitively designed to reflect the 
character of the local area and to have regard to the amenities of adjacent 
properties. It provides a suitable level of public open space and planting and 
connectivity with its surroundings, including the approved development site 
directly to its south side.  The  impact of the development on infrastructure and 
traffic and safety has been considered.  The relative small proportional increase in 
traffic using Brownside Road can be accommodated and measures to improve 
nearby bus stops and provide a new off-site greenway route would promote travel 
by bus, walking and cycling and give greater access to the countryside for 
recreation.  The proposal would also lead to an upgrade in an off-site section of 
culvert that is likely to address flooding issues that currently occur away from the 
site.  The proposal would not adversely affect protected species and the proposed 
landscaping would contribute to a net gain in biodiversity.  The proposed scheme 
is a high quality development, includes benefits from the provision of 4no. 
Affordable Homes which adds to the range and variety of Affordable Housing in 
the borough, and is policy compliant.  The proposal therefore complies with the 
development plan and there are no material considerations which outweigh this 
finding. The application is therefore recommended for approval as set out below: 

 
 

7.     Recommendation: Delegation to the Head of Housing and Development 
Control to Approve subject to a section 106 Agreement to secure affordable 
housing, open space improvements, greenway creation and maintenance 
and management of public open space, reservoir walls and SuDS. 

 
Conditions 
 

1. The development must be begun within three years of the date of this decision. 
 

Reason:  Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans listed on this notice below. 
 

Reason: To ensure the development is implemented in accordance with the 
approved plans and to avoid ambiguity. 

 
3.  Representative samples of the external materials of construction, as indicated 

on the approved plans, to be used on the walls and roofs of the development 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

Page 37



prior to any development above ground level.  The development shall thereafter 
be carried out in accordance with the approved materials. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development, having 
regard to the character of the local area, in accordance with Policy SP5 of 
Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018).  The details are required prior to the 
commencement of built development above ground level to ensure that the 
details are satisfactory and can be implemented at the appropriate stage of the 
development. 

 
4. No development shall be commenced until protective fencing to protect the 

trees to be retained on the site has been erected in accordance with details as 
indicated in the submitted Tree Protection Plan (drawing number 6966.03RevA, 
prepared by Trevor Bridge Associates Ltd). There shall be no excavation, site 
works, trenches or channels to be cut or laid or soil waste or other materials 
deposited so as to cause damage or injury to the root structure of the retained 
trees.  The protection measures shall be implemented and remain in situ during 
building operations until the completion of the development. 

 
Reason: To ensure adequate protection for the long term health of trees which 
should be retained in the interests of the visual amenities and biodiversity of the 
site and its surroundings, in accordance with Policy NE4 of Burnley's Local Plan 
(July 2018). The protective fencing is required to be erected prior to the 
commencement of development in order to give adequate protection to the 
trees from construction vehicles, plant, deliveries and other site activities. 

 
5. Notwithstanding the submitted landscape scheme, prior to the commencement 

of development, a scheme of landscaping, including details of trees and hedges 
to be retained and details of new tree, hedge and shrub planting and seeding 
together with details of species, heights and numbers on planting and details of 
their cultivation, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.   

 
Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory scheme that includes adequate tree cover to 
the open boundaries of the site with the surrounding countryside and provides a 
high standard of new and appropriate landscaping, in the interests of the visual 
amenities of the site and its surroundings and the biodiversity of the site, in 
accordance with Policies HS1/12, SP5, NE1 and NE4 of Burnley`s Local Plan 
(July 2018).  The scheme is required prior to the commencement of 
development  to ensure that the details are satisfactory and can be 
implemented at the appropriate stage of the development. 
 

6. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping 
as approved in accordance with Condition 9 above shall be carried out in the 
first planting and seeding seasons following the first occupation of any of the 
dwellings within any phase of the development or the completion of the 
development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a 
period of five years from the completion of the development die, are removed or 
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with others of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning 
Authority gives written approval to any variation. 

 

Page 38



Reason: In order that the landscaping works contribute to a satisfactory 
standard of completed development and its long term appearance harmonises 
with its surroundings and contributes to biodiversity enhancement, in 
accordance with Policies SP5 and NE1 of Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018). 

 
7. No removal of or any works to hedgerows, trees and shrubs or site clearance 

shall take place between the 1st March and 31st August  inclusive unless a 
competent ecologist has inspected the area (including an inspection for ground 
nesting birds) no more than 24 hours prior to its removal and has provided 
written confirmation to the Local Planning Authority that no nests or breeding 
birds will be harmed by the development and/or that there are appropriate 
measures in place to protect nesting bird interest on the site.  

 
Reason: To ensure that nesting birds which are protected by the Wildlife  
and Countryside Act 1981 are not harmed by the development, in accordance 
with Policy NE1 of Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018).  This must be carried out 
prior to the commencement of development in order to prevent any potential 
harm to breeding birds. 
 

8. Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme for the provision and 
implementation of Biodiversity Enhancement Measures on the site to include 
bird and bat boxes and timescales for the completion of the measures, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
approved scheme shall thereafter be carried out and completed in accordance 
with the approved timescales and shall be retained thereafter. 

 
Reason: To maintain and enhance biodiversity on the site, in accordance with 
Policy NE1 of Burnley`s Local Plan (July 2018).  The scheme is required prior 
to the commencement of development in order to ensure that it can be 
coordinated with other landscaping and ecology related schemes for the site 
and implemented at the appropriate stages of the development.  
 

9. The boundary treatment indicated on the submitted Boundary Treatment Plan 
(drawing number 21-86-P02RevF) shall be carried out and completed prior to 
the completion of the development, in accordance with details of the materials 
and design of the proposed screen walls which shall be first submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

 
 Reason: To ensure adequate and sensitive boundary treatment to provide a 

satisfactory appearance to the development and provide screening where 
appropriate, in accordance with Policy SP5 of Burnley`s Local Plan (July 2018). 

 
10.  No development shall take place, including any works of demolition or site 

clearance, until a Construction Management Plan (CMP) or Construction 
Method Statement (CMS) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. The approved plan / statement shall provide:  
• 24 Hour emergency contact number.  

• Details of the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors.  

• Details of loading and unloading of plant and materials.  

• Arrangements for turning of vehicles within the site.  

Page 39



• Swept path analysis showing access for the largest vehicles regularly 
accessing the site and measures to ensure adequate space is available and 
maintained, including any necessary temporary traffic management measures.  

• Measures to protect vulnerable road users (pedestrians and cyclists).  

• The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate.  

• Wheel washing facilities.  

• Measures to control and deal with dirt, debris, mud, or loose material 
deposited on the highway because of construction. 

• Measures to control and deal with vibration. 

 • Procedures for maintaining good public relations including complaint 
management, public consultation and liaison.  

• Measures to control the emission of dust, dirt and other air-borne pollutants 
during construction. 

 • Mitigation measures to minimise noise disturbance from construction works. 

• Measures for controlling the use of site lighting whether required for safe 
working or for security purposes. 

• Details of a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition 
and construction works.  

• Construction vehicle routing.  

• Delivery, demolition, and construction working hours and procedures for 
emergency deviation of agreed working hours.  

 
The approved Construction Management Plan or Construction Method 
Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period for the 
development. 

Reason: To ensure that the safety and amenities of occupiers of neighbouring 
properties and users of the local highway are satisfactorily protected, in 
accordance with Policies NE5 and IC1 of Burnley's Local Plan (July 2018).  The 
Construction Management Plan is required prior to the commencement of 
development to ensure that the measures contained therein can be carried out 
at the appropriate phases of the construction period. 
 

11. For the full period of construction facilities shall be available on site for the 
 cleaning of the wheels of vehicles leaving the site and such equipment shall be 
used as necessary to prevent mud, stones and debris being carried onto the 
highway. Provision to sweep the surrounding highway network by mechanical 
means will be available and the roads adjacent to the site shall be mechanically 
swept as required during the full construction period. 

 
  Reason: To prevent stones, mud and debris being carried onto the public 

highway to the detriment of road safety. 
 
12.  Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, all works 

and ancillary operations in connection with the construction of the development, 
including the use of any equipment, shall be carried out only between 0800 
hours and 1800 hours on Mondays to Fridays and between 0800 hours and 
1300 hours on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays, Bank Holidays or Public 
Holidays. Where permission is sought for works to be carried out outside the 

Page 40



hours stated, requests in writing must be made with at least seven days' notice 
to the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of the local area, in accordance 
with Policy NE5 of Burnley's Local Plan (July 2018). 

 
13. Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme for the detailed design 

of the proposed site access and off-site works of highway improvement to 
include the following shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority:- 
• The improvement of two bus stops outside 200A and 187/9 Brownside Road. 

 

The approved scheme shall thereafter be implemented in its entirety and 
completed prior to any dwelling being first occupied. 

 
Reason:  To ensure that satisfactory access is provided to the site and is made 
safe for all highway users and satisfactory provision is made to encourage use 
of public transport, having regard to sustainable travel and highway safety, in 
accordance with Policy IC1 of Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018).  The details are 
required prior to the commencement of development to ensure that the details 
are satisfactory and can be implemented at the appropriate time and stages of 
the development in the interests of highway safety. 

14.   The approved access junction and estate road shall be constructed in 
accordance with the Lancashire County Council Specification for Construction 
of Estate Roads to at least base course level before any development takes 
place within the site. 

 
   Reason: To ensure that satisfactory access is provided to the site before the    

development hereby permitted becomes operative, in the interests of highway 
safety, in accordance with Policy IC1 of Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018). 

 
15.  No development shall be commenced until the engineering, drainage, street 

lighting and constructional details of the proposed estate roads have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development shall thereafter be constructed in accordance with the approved 
details. 

 
 Reason: To ensure these details are adequate to provide satisfactory access 

and amenity for the occupiers of the development, in accordance with Policy 
IC1 of Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018).  The details are required prior to the 
commencement of development to ensure that the details are satisfactory and 
can be implemented at the appropriate time and stages of the development in 
the interests of highway safety. 

 
16. No development shall be commenced until details of the proposed 

arrangements for future management and maintenance of the proposed streets 
within the development have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The streets shall thereafter be maintained in 
accordance with the approved management and maintenance details until such 
time as an agreement has been entered into under Section 38 of the Highways 

Page 41



Act 1980 or a private management and maintenance company has been 
established for this purpose.  

Reason: In the interest of highway safety; to ensure a satisfactory appearance 
to the highway's infrastructure serving the approved development; and to 
safeguard the users of the highway and the visual amenities of the locality. 

17. No dwelling shall be first occupied until drop kerbs have been installed at the 
carriageway edge for that dwelling and a vehicle cross-over constructed across 
the footway fronting the site in accordance with the approved plans and the 
Lancashire County Council Specification for Construction of Estate Roads and 
shall be so retained in that form thereafter for the lifetime of the development. 

  Reason: In the interests of pedestrian safety and accessibility, in accordance 
with Policies IC1 and IC3 of Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018). 

18.  No dwelling shall be first occupied unless and until all its associated car parking 
has been constructed, drained, surfaced and is available for use in accordance 
with the approved plans. The car parking spaces associated with each dwelling 
shall thereafter be retained for the purposes of car parking at all times. 

 
Reason: To ensure adequate off-street parking, in the interests of highway 
safety and amenity, in accordance with Policy IC3 of Burnley’s Local Plan (July 
2018). 

 
19. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order 
revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), the garages 
hereby approved shall remain available at all times for the parking of a motor 
vehicle and shall not be altered to provide habitable space. 

Reason: To ensure that car parking levels for each property are preserved to 
ensure the continued compliance with the Council’s parking standards and 
avoid reliance on off-street parking, in accordance with Policy IC3 of Burnley’s 
Local Plan (July 2018). 

 
20. Prior to each dwelling being first occupied, garage wall hanging cycle storage 

suitable for two bicycles shall be provided within each garage and a separate 
secure cycle storage facility suitable for two bicycles shall be provided for units 
without a garage, in accordance with details which shall be first submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The bicycle storage 
facility for each dwelling shall thereafter be retained at all times. 

 
  Reason: To promote sustainable transport as a travel option and reduce carbon 

emissions, in accordance with Policy IC3 of Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018). 
 

21. No development shall be commenced unless and until a scheme of off-site 
culvert improvement works to increase the capacity of the existing 300mm 
diameter culverted ordinary watercourse under Brownside Mill to its outfall to 
the River Brun and to include timescales for the implementation of the scheme, 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The approved scheme of off-site culvert improvement works shall thereafter be 
carried out and completed in accordance with the approved details and 

Page 42



approved timescales and no dwelling shall be first occupied until a verification 
report to certify that the approved scheme is complete and operational has 
been submitted to and first approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason:  The proposed development would lead to an increase in surface 
water run-off into an inadequate downstream culvert under Brownside Mill 
which would unacceptably increase the risk of flooding without significant off-
site improvements that are required by this condition, in accordance with Policy 
CC4 of Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018).  The scheme is required prior to the 
commencement of development due to the nature of the risks of flooding and to 
ensure that the improvements are secured at the outset. 

22. No development shall commence until a detailed, final surface water 
sustainable drainage strategy for the site has been submitted to, and approved 
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The detailed surface water 
sustainable drainage strategy shall be based upon the indicative surface water 
sustainable drainage strategy submitted (drawing 21152/100/1 Rev D, REFA, 
15/01/2024 and supporting letter dated 17th January 2024, Townsend Water 
Engineering) and sustainable drainage principles and requirements set out in 
the National Planning Policy Framework, Planning Practice Guidance and Defra 
Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems. No surface water shall 
be allowed to discharge to the public foul sewer(s), directly or indirectly. The 
details of the drainage strategy to be submitted for approval shall include, as a 
minimum; 

   a) Sustainable drainage calculations for peak flow control and volume control 
for the: 

   i. 100% (1 in 1-year) annual exceedance probability event; 

   ii. 3.3% (1 in 30-year) annual exceedance probability event + 40% climate 
change allowance, with an allowance for urban creep; 

   iii. 1% (1 in 100-year) annual exceedance probability event + 50% climate 
change allowance, with an allowance for urban creep Calculations must be 
provided for the whole site, including all existing and proposed surface water 
drainage systems. 

   b) Final sustainable drainage plans appropriately labelled to include, as a 
minimum: 

i. Site plan showing all permeable and impermeable areas that contribute to the 
drainage network either directly or indirectly, including surface water flows from 
outside the curtilage as necessary; 
ii. Sustainable drainage system layout showing all pipe and structure 
references, dimensions and design levels to include all existing and proposed 
surface water drainage systems up to and including the final outfall; 
iii. Details of all sustainable drainage components, including landscape 
drawings showing topography and slope gradient as appropriate; 
iv. Drainage plan showing flood water exceedance routes in accordance with 
Defra Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems; 
v. Finished Floor Levels (FFL) in AOD with adjacent ground levels for all sides 
of each building and connecting cover levels to confirm minimum 150 mm+ 
difference for FFL; 
vi. Details of proposals to collect and mitigate surface water runoff from the 
development boundary; Page 43



vii. Measures taken to manage the quality of the surface water runoff to prevent 
pollution, protect groundwater and surface waters, and delivers suitably clean 
water to sustainable drainage components. 
 
The sustainable drainage strategy shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
Reason To ensure satisfactory sustainable drainage facilities are provided to 
serve the site in accordance with the Paragraphs 173 and 175 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Planning Practice Guidance and Defra Technical 
Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems and Policies CC4 and CC5 of 
Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018).  The details are required prior to the 
commencement of development to ensure that satisfactory details can be 
secured and implemented at the appropriate stage in the construction. 

 
23. No development shall commence until a Construction Surface Water 

Management Plan, detailing how surface water and stormwater will be 
managed on the site during construction, including demolition and site 
clearance operations, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The details of the plan to be submitted for approval 
shall include method statements, scaled and dimensioned plans and drawings 
detailing surface water management proposals to include for each phase, as a 
minimum: 

a) Measures taken to ensure surface water flows are retained on-site during 
the construction phase(s), including temporary drainage systems, and, if 
surface water flows are to be discharged, they are done so at a 
restricted rate that must not exceed the equivalent greenfield runoff rate 
from the site. 

b) Measures taken to prevent siltation and pollutants from the site entering 
any receiving groundwater and/or surface waters, including 
watercourses, with reference to published guidance.  

The plan shall be implemented and thereafter managed and maintained in 
accordance with the approved plan for the duration of construction. 
 
Reason:  To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for 
the disposal of surface water during each construction phase(s) so it does not 
pose an undue surface water flood risk on-site or elsewhere during any 
construction phase in accordance with Paragraph 173 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policies CC4 and NE5 of Burnley’s Local Plan (July 
2018).  The Management Plan is required prior to the commencement of 
development in order to avoid the potential impacts of surface water run-off at 
the outset of the construction. 
 

24. The occupation of the development shall not be permitted until a site-specific 
Operation and Maintenance Manual for the lifetime of the development, 
pertaining to the surface water drainage system and prepared by a suitably 
competent person, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The details of the manual to be submitted for approval shall 
include, as a minimum: 
 a) A timetable for its implementation; 
 b) Details of the maintenance, operational and access requirement for all 
SuDS components and connecting drainage structures; 

Page 44



 c) Pro-forma to allow the recording of each inspection and maintenance 
activity, as well as allowing any faults to be recorded and actions taken to 
rectify issues; 
 d) The arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker, 
or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable drainage 
scheme in perpetuity; 
 e) Details of financial management including arrangements for the replacement 
of major components at the end of the manufacturer's recommended design 
life; 
 f) Details of whom to contact if pollution is seen in the system or if it is not 
working correctly; and 
 g) Means of access for maintenance and easements.  
 
Thereafter the drainage system shall be retained, managed, and maintained in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that surface water flood risks from development to the 
future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with 
those risks to controlled waters, property, and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the sustainable drainage system is subsequently maintained 
pursuant to the requirements of Paragraph 175 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and in accordance with Policies CC4 and NE5 of Burnley’s Local 
Plan (July 2018).   
 

25. The occupation of the development shall not be permitted until a site-specific 
verification report, pertaining to the surface water sustainable drainage system, 
and prepared by a suitably competent person, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The verification report 
must, as a minimum, demonstrate that the surface water sustainable drainage 
system has been constructed in accordance with the approved drawing(s) (or 
detail any minor variations) and is fit for purpose. The report shall contain 
information and evidence, including photographs, of details and locations 
(including 5 national grid references) of critical drainage infrastructure (including 
inlets, outlets, and control structures) and full as-built drawings. The scheme 
shall thereafter be maintained in perpetuity. 

 
Reason: To ensure that surface water flood risks from development to the 
future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with 
those risks to controlled waters, property, and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development as constructed is compliant with the requirements 
of Paragraphs 173 and 175 of the National Planning Policy Framework and in 
accordance with Policies CC4 and NE5 of Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018).   
 

26.  Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems and a scheme for 
the disposal of foul water shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of built development 
above ground level. The approved scheme shall be implemented in full and 
completed prior to any dwelling being first occupied. The foul water drainage 
scheme shall thereafter be retained at all times in the future. 

 
 Reason: To ensure the site can be adequately drained and to prevent pollution 
of groundwaters, in accordance with Policy NE5 of the Burnley`s Local Plan 

Page 45



(July 2018).  The scheme is required prior to the commencement of built 
development above ground level to ensure that the measures identified in the 
scheme can be carried out at the appropriate stage of construction. 
 

27.  Prior to the commencement of built development above ground level, details of 
finished floor levels for all the development shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall thereafter 
only be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory implementation of the proposal, having 
regard to the appearance of the development and its surroundings, in 
accordance with Policy SP5 of Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018).  The details 
are required prior to the commencement of built development above ground 
level to ensure that the dwellings are constructed in accordance with the 
approved levels.  

 
28. No dwelling shall be first occupied until a verification report to demonstrate the 

completion of gas protection measures and recommendations in the submitted 
Phase II Geo-environmental Investigation Report Final Issue, dated April 2023 
(reference 2152/GEIR 01), has been first submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.    

 
Reason:  In order to deal appropriately and safely with the risks posed to the 
public and future occupiers by the historic landfill of the site, in accordance with 
Policy NE5 of Burnley's Local Plan (July 2018).   

 
29. Electric vehicle charging points which shall be in accordance with the relevant 

Department for Transport guidance (minimum power rating output of 7kW and 
fitted with a universal socket) shall be installed externally at each plot prior to its 
first occupation. 

  
Reason:  To encourage the use of electric vehicles in order to reduce 
emissions and protect the local air quality in accordance with Policy IC3 of 
Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018). 
 

30. Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling, refuse bins and recyclable waste 
storage for each respective dwelling shall be provided within a concealed area 
of the curtilage in accordance with details in drawing number 21-86-P03RevF. 
The refuse and recyclable waste storage provision for each dwelling shall 
thereafter be retained at all times. 

 
Reason: To ensure adequate storage for refuse and recycling waste is provided 
away from public views, in the interests of residential amenities, in accordance 
with Policy SP5 of Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018). 

 
31. A minimum of nine dwellings within the development shall be constructed to 

comply with the optional technical standards of Part M4(2) of the Building 
Regulations 2010 to provide adaptable homes.  Details of the plots to be 
constructed to comply with this specification shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of 
development.  None of the specified plots subject to these requirements shall 
be first occupied until a verification report prepared by a suitably competent 

Page 46



surveyor or professional to demonstrate that the standard has been achieved 
for that dwelling has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that the development provides benefits to new occupiers by 
the provision of adaptable homes to meet lifetime needs, in accordance with 
Policy HS4 of Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018). 

 
32. Prior to the installation of any photovoltaic (PV) panels or equipment at any part 

of the development, details of the PV panels and their siting shall first be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The PV 
panels shall thereafter only be installed as approved.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the details and appearance of the PV panels is 
satisfactory, in accordance with Policy SP5 of Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018). 

 
33. The development shall be completed with the chimney features as detailed in 

the approved plans and drawing number 21-86-P09RevF (Chimney Location 
Plan) prior to each dwelling being first occupied. 
 
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory implementation of the proposal and the 
inclusion of detailing which contributes to the quality of the development, in 
accordance with Policy SP5 of Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018). 

 
34. A footpath connection at the south west corner of the site shall be constructed 

and made available for use in accordance with details and specifications of its 
construction and timescales for its completion and availability for use by 
member of the public, which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of development.  The 
footpath connection shall thereafter be so retained and remain open for use in 
perpetuity. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development provides connectivity with surrounding 
development, in the interests of amenity and to promote accessibility, in 
accordance with Policy IC1 of Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018).  The details are 
required prior to the commencement of development to ensure the levels and 
details are satisfactory and can be implemented at the appropriate stage in the 
development.  

 
 
Janet Filbin 
30th January 2024 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



30

2

69

31

S
T G

ILES STR
EET

6

13

101.9m

19

8

El

1

2

4

19

3

1a

8

IN
K

E
R

M
A

N
 S

TR
E

E
T

El Sub Sta

ALMA STREET

23

18

ALBERT STREET

3

12

33

1 
to

 3
3

59

1

21

M
E

A
D

O
W

 S
T

R
E

E
T

2

2

57

3

22

11

12

52

TERRACE

20

23

22

24

Crosshills

90.2m

1

45

STREET

6

16

36

83

NORTH STREET

13
a

EAST STREET

1

17

8

48

36

15

19

11

1

9

1

29

103.0m

49

HALL HILL STREET

19

3

5

Sub Sta

7

2

3

16a

10

61

12

20

8

3

5

98.5m

2

T
errace

94.2m

1

18

3

8

17

D
R

A
G

O
N

 S
T

7

SHUTTLEWORTH STREET

1

95.1m

Car Park

14

M
A

PLE C
LO

SE

PCs

6

18

22

1

16

12

11

4

H
A

V
E

LO
C

K
 S

TR
E

E
T

PARISH STREET

1

1

7

26

35

93.6m

1

1

44

BACK ALBERT STREET

A
C

R
E

FIELD

5

2

13

21

27

14

16

BANK S
TREET

D
A

M
E

 F
O

LD

QUEEN STREET 5

3

71

47

9

PH

24

6

CHURCH

95.7m

11

21

20

2

S
t G

iles

LB

6

10

C
H

U
R

C
H

 L
A

N
EW

EST S
TREET

12

4

CHAPEL WALK

K
IN

G
 S

TR
E

E
T

54

6

32

16

65

4

2

6

The Mews

14

35

53

13

12

4

ST LEO
N

A
R

D
'S STR

EET

4

14

3

12

Mast (T
elecommunicatio

n)

1

to

16

6

DOUBLE ROW

18

Club

15

38

9

30

15

34

28

46

26

11
a

SPRING GDNS

4

31

2

3

Th
e 

M
ew

s

Claybank Fold

3

Shelter

14

19

51

5

5

1

28

102.4m

Ref.

FUL/2023/0325

Part One Plan

The Lawrence Hotel, 28 Church Street, Padiham
1:1250

Date Printed: 23/01/2024

Paul Gatrell   Head of Housing and Development Control

Housing & Development Control
Town Hall, Manchester Road

Based upon Ordnance Survey mapping with
permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's
Stationery Office © Crown copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown
copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil
proceedings.
© Burnley Borough Council AC0000849998.

0 8 16 24 32 40 m

Scale

Page 49

Agenda Item 6b



This page is intentionally left blank



Application recommended for APPROVAL           FUL/2023/0325 
Hapton with Park Ward 
 
Application for Planning Permission: 
Installation of 2 no electronically operated awnings with non-illuminated hotel name to front elevation; 
and installation of 3 no. air conditioning extraction units to side elevation (Retrospective Application) 
THE LAWRENCE HOTEL 28 CHURCH STREET PADIHAM BB12 8HG 
 
Applicant: Mr M Huckerby 
Agent: Avalon Town Planning Ltd 
 
Background: 
 
This application follows investigation of a suspected breach of planning control.  A breach was found to 
have occurred and in this case Officers consider the submission of a retrospective planning application 
is an appropriate way forward to regularise the situation. 
 
This application is presented to Committee as three material planning objections have been received. 
 
Site Description: 
 
This application relates to The Lawrence Hotel, a stone built property situated to the north of Church  
Street, a busy throughfare. The hotel comprises Numbers 26 and 28 Church Street, attractive late 
Georgian buildings fronting Church Street that have been integrated and remodelled to form a single 
unit with additional accommodation located in later extensions to the side and rear. The buildings are 
constructed in coursed sandstone rubble in a classical design resulting in a pleasing overall balance 
and symmetry. The set back from the pavement and slightly elevated position from Church Street adds 
to the prominence of what are otherwise quite simple buildings. The building’s setting has undergone 
significant change in the last century with demolition and redevelopment of housing to the north, east 
and west. The western (side) elevation of the building is adjacent a narrow passageway and is largely 
screened from public view due to the relative proximity of The Mews development on Chapel Walk. 
 

  
Image c. Google Streetview 
 
The principal building, No 28 Church Street, is listed (Grade II) and No 26 is identified as a locally listed 
(non-designated heritage asset). The property is located within the Padiham Conservation Area, the 
special character and appearance of which is described within the Conservation Area Appraisal (June 
2020). The surrounding area includes a mix of residential and commercial uses.  
 

Page 51



Summary of Heritage Significance: 
 
No 28 Church Street is a heritage asset of high significance reflected in its Grade II Listing. The nature 
of this significance lies chiefly in its architectural and historic interest. On the first count is holds value 
for its external qualities including its balanced facade, classical proportions and quality of materials 
which combine to form a distinguished example of late Georgian domestic architecture that retains the 
outer appearance of its principal facades largely unaltered. Features of particular note including the 
central doorway with semi-circular fanlight, paired windows with multi-paned sash windows and 
corbelled eaves. Later extensions have a negative impact in places. The building also draws 
significance from its setting within the Padiham Conservation Area and holds value at a local level in 
representing the history and growth of Padiham and makes a positive contribution to the significance of 
the conservation area through its aesthetic, historic and associative value. 
 
The listing description refers only to the external features of the building, the authenticity and integrity of 
the interior having been compromised by modern interventions including the removal of most of the 
internal fittings and finishes; and through the conversion and adaptation to form guesthouse and hotel 
accommodation including alteration of the historic interior plan form and hierarchy.  
 
Proposal: 

This application seeks retrospective planning permission to regularise the following alterations: 

Installation of three external air conditioning units to side (west facing) elevation: 

Each unit measures 716mm H x 820mm W x 315mm D. They are sited together on the side elevation of 
a lower level link building which faces the rear elevation of No 5 The Mews at a distance of 
approximately 6.0 metres across a narrow alleyway which has limited public views. The link building is 
a relatively modern extension which makes no contribution to the significance (special interest) of the 
listed building in terms of how the building and its heritage values are appreciated and understood and 
is therefore less sensitive to alterations. It is understood that the units are currently only used for 
cooling the building though they can also provide heating as required. The sound pressure level when 
operating at high capacity is 53/54 d/B(A).  

The position of the units is largely dictated by function. Their current position is readily visible in direct 
views from habitable room windows at No 5 The Mews. Following negotiation with the applicant it is 
proposed to re-position the units at a lower (close to ground) level, below the height of the existing 
boundary fence, in order to preserve views from neighbouring habitable room windows and to provide a 
degree of buffering against any instances of air blowing out of the units, as noted from consultation 
responses. A revised drawing showing the amended position on the elevation was submitted and re-
consultations carried out. The revised drawing is supported by an expert assessment which confirms 
that the repositioning of the units will not affect their technical performance. 

   

Existing Side Elevation     Proposed Side Elevation with AC units repositioned 

Page 52



The applicant considers air conditioning is paramount to the comfort of guests using the function and 
guest rooms which are otherwise poorly ventilated. This is expected of a modern hotel and without 
which, the hotel would struggle to compete with other venues. 

Installation of two awnings with non-illuminated hotel name to front (south) elevation 

The awnings were installed in 2020 to enable customers to comfortably dine outdoors during the Covid 
19 Pandemic. Retractable side screens and patio heaters were also mounted on the front elevation. 
Following negotiation, the applicant agreed to remove the 4 patio heaters and 2 retractable sides which 
were considered to cause an unacceptable level of visual clutter to the frontage. A revised drawing was 
submitted and re-consultations carried out. 

The awnings are sited to either side of the doorway between the ground and first floor windows and off-
set from the sides of the building. This reinforces the symmetrical appearance of the front elevation and 
avoids the need to obscure any architectural features or horizontally dissect the full width of the façade. 
The awnings are a modest traditional form and comprise a muted coloured canvas cover with a valance 
displaying the name of the Hotel. They project out from rollers on wall mounted brackets with the 
electrical power supply and wiring hidden behind the awing valance. Each awning measures 4.0m in 
width and has a projection of approximately 2.0m over the garden forecourt when fully extended such 
that they do not appear overly bulky in profile or unduly prominent. In their retracted state, the awnings 
appear as relatively discreet, slim cylinders displaying the name of the Hotel. 

The applicant considers the awnings are a vitally important to the business, providing shelter to the 
main outdoor amenity space which has become a significant part of the facility used largely for wedding 
parties including their photography, enabling the hotel to compete with other local wedding venues. 
This, in turn, supports the optimum viable use of the building.  

 

Existing Elevation showing wall mounted heaters and services        Proposed Elevation 

There is a concurrent listed building consent application for the alterations (Ref LBC/2023/0326). The 
application is the subject of a separate report which it is suggested is read in conjunction. 
 
Relevant Policies: 

Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018) 
SP5: Development Quality and Sustainability 
HE2: Designated Heritage Assets 
NE5: Environmental Protection 

Page 53



 
Planning for Health Supplementary Planning Document (October 2022) 
The National Planning Policy Framework (2023) and National Design Guide (2021) 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
 
Relevant Recent Planning History:  
 
APP/2019/0126 and APP/2019/0127(LBC): Proposed new single storey extension in to existing court 
yard with flat roof terrace above Conversion of grassed area on North Street into parking spaces 
Addition of timber gate and pedestrian access door 
 
Consultation and Publicity: 
 
Environmental Health: Raise no objection subject to the imposition of a condition limiting noise to a 
level 5dB below the existing LA90 background noise level at all times. 
 
Publicity: Two letters of objection and one letter of support were received to the proposal as initially 
submitted with the main points summarised as follows 
 
Objection 1: The relocation of the existing units closer to my property will cause unacceptable visual 
impact from bedroom and living room windows which are currently unaffected. Concern regarding 
potential noise. The Hotel has blocked the passageway which is a public right of way. [Officer note: the 
originally proposed location has been amended and the units are no longer proposed to be closer to the 
property referred to in the objection]. 
 
Objection 2: Object to the retention of the canopy at the front and suggest that this and the adjacent 
clutter be removed, some of which could be re-sited on the west elevation. 
 
Support: The relocation of the existing units away from the directly facing neighbouring property, 
currently affected, will resolve the visual and audible impacts and the impact of the temperature of the 
air released externally from the units into the property. [Officer note: the originally proposed location has 
been amended and the units are proposed to remain adjacent the property referred to in the objection, 
albeit lowered in height to mitigate their impacts]. 
 
During the second round of consultation (following submission of revised plans) an objection was 
received, from the previous supporter, on the grounds of unacceptable impact on living conditions of 
occupiers of directly facing neighbouring property. In hot weather the units release warm air into the 
neighbouring property and in cold weather extract heat from the property which results in an inability to 
regulate the temperature and ventilation within the home, not being able to open windows in hot 
weather and increase heating during cold weather. The units a detrimental to health, mental wellbeing 
and residential amenity. Suggest the units are relocated to the northern (rear) elevation; or within the 
courtyard or roof terrace where the impacts will be lessened.  
 
Full details of the representations (with details redacted as relevant) are available for inspection upon 
request. The material planning issues raised are considered in the report below. 
 
Planning and Environmental Considerations: 
 
The main issues relevant to the consideration of the application are:  
 
• Principle of development  
• Impact on the significance (special interest) of the Listed Building 
• Impact on the Conservation Area including design and appearance (visual amenity) 
• Impact on neighbouring amenity  
 
 

Page 54



Principle of Development 
 
The application site is located within the development boundary as defined by the Local Plan and which 
is the focus for development of an appropriate type and scale. Minor physical alterations to existing 
building are acceptable in principle, where the development meets with other relevant plan policies. 
 
Impact on the significance (special interest) of the Listed Building 
 
In considering proposals for planning permission, the duty imposed by section 66 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that special regard must be had to the 
desirability of preserving the special interest of listed buildings, including their setting and any features 
of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. With regard to the NPPF ‘preservation’ 
has the meaning of doing no harm to heritage significance as opposed to keeping it utterly unchanged.  
 
The concurrent Listed Building Consent Application (Ref LBC/2023/0326) determines the acceptability 
of the impacts of the alterations to the listed building. It finds that the installation of the awnings, whilst 
visually acceptable, have caused harm to significance. The magnitude of which falls within the lower 
end of the broad category of “less than substantial harm” in that the awnings result in a degree of 
change that is minor and to such an extent that they do not alter the experience or understanding of the 
building’s significance to any appreciable degree.  
 
The applicant has adequately demonstrated that the awnings are necessary and unavoidable in order 
to maintain competitiveness as a wedding venue thus ensuring the building remains in viable use. 
When considered against the public benefits associated with maintaining the building in viable use, this 
is considered sufficient to outweigh the identified less then substantial harm to significance in 
accordance with Policy HE2, the NPPF and the duty assigned by the LBCA Act.  Accordingly, there is 
no reason to withold planning permisison for the physical changes to convert the listed building as far 
as they are covered by the planning permission regime.  
 
Impact on the Conservation Area including design and appearance (visual amenity) 
 
Local Plan Policies SP5 and HE2, amongst other considerations, requires development to be of a high 
standard of design and to respect the character and appearance of their setting. The setting of the 
application site is historically sensitive being located within the Padiham Conservation Area. Section 
72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 confers upon the local 
planning authority a duty to have special regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of a conservation area. Preservation in this context means protecting the 
character and appearance (significance) from harm as opposed to keeping it utterly unchanged. 
 
It is considered that the alterations do not introduce any characteristic, detailing or material that cause 
harm to the character or appearance of the host building. They present a satisfactory composition when 
considered as a whole and are consistent with the character and appearance of the immediate setting 
and wider streetscene. Accordingly, no harmful visual impact is deemed to arise.   
 
Having regard to the design, appearance and siting it is considered that the proposal would, in its 
entirety, preserve the character and appearance of the Conservation Area therefore satisfying the 
requirements of Local Plan Policy HE2, the NPPF and the relevant statutory duty. 
 
Impact on neighbouring amenity 

Policy SP5 seeks to ensure there is no unacceptable adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring 
occupants or adjacent land users through overlooking, lack of privacy or reduction of outlook or 
daylight, noise and disturbance. Policy NE5 of the Local Plan seeks, amongst other things, to resist 
development that generates noise which is likely to create significant adverse impacts on health and 
quality of life when it cannot be mitigated and controlled through the use of conditions or through pre-
existing effective legislative regimes.  

Page 55



 
Outlook: The air conditioning units which are currently readily visible in direct views from habitable room 
windows at No 5 The Mews, are proposed to be re-positioned at a lower (close to ground) level, below 
the height of the existing boundary fence, in order to preserve views from neighbouring habitable room 
windows and to provide a degree of buffering against any instances of air blowing out of the units, as 
noted from consultation responses. This is considered sufficient in ensuring that the units would not 
create an unacceptably dominant or poor outlook in accordance with Policy SP5. It is considered 
necessary to impose a deadline for the relocation of the units through a suitably worded condition.  

Noise: The Council’s Environmental Health Officer raises no objection to the application on noise or 
nuisance grounds subject to the imposition of a condition restricting noise to acceptable levels. It is 
considered that the condition is reasonable and should be applied. The council will retain the authority 
to investigate under the Environmental Protection Act 1990, should any complaints be received with 
regards to noise. Subject to the recommended condition, the proposal would not give rise to any 
unacceptable adverse impacts upon neighbouring amenity and is therefore found to comply with 
Policies SP5 and NE5. 
 
Conclusion: 

The proposal is considered to have an acceptable impact on the appearance of the host building and 
wider area. The potential impacts caused by the operation of the equipment shall be managed through 
the inclusion of a condition restricting their noise output. The development is therefore considered to 
accord with the Local Plan and represents a sustainable form of development and there are no material 
considerations which would outweigh this finding. 

Recommendation: Approve subject to conditions 
 
Conditions and Reasons: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out other than to the approved drawings and 

specification of works noted thereon except where modified by the conditions of this consent. The 
approved drawings are Drawing Numbers:  
HUCK/01/Dwg02 (Proposed Elevations and Canopies at 1:50, 1:10 Scale) received 31 May 2023 
HUCK/01/Dwg03a (Proposed Side Elevations at 1:100 and 1:10 Scale) received 04 January 2024 
HUCK/01/Dwg05 (Front Elevation Fittings Plan at 1:50 Sale) received 11 January 2024 

 
Reason: To ensure the development is implemented in accordance with the approved plans and to 
avoid ambiguity.  

 
2. Noise associated with the air conditioning units hereby approved shall be controlled such that the 

target rating level noise measured or calculated at 1.0 metre from the façade of the nearest existing 
noise sensitive premises, shall not exceed a level 5dB below the existing LA90 background noise 
level at any time. The rating level and existing background noise levels are to be determined as per 
the guidance provided in BS4142:2014+A1(2019) or any subsequent replacement document. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties and to comply with 
Policies SP5 and NE of Burnley’s Local Plan 

 
3. The 3 no air conditioning units shall be relocated to the positions as approved in Drawing No 

HUCK/01/Dwg03a within three months from the date of this decision notice. 
 

Reason: To ensure the timely relocation of the units in order to safeguard the amenities of the 
occupiers of neighbouring properties and to comply with Policy SP5 of Burnley’s Local Plan. 

 
 
EEP (Principal Planner) 

Page 56



30

2

69

31

S
T G

ILES STR
EET

6

13

101.9m

19

8

El
1

2

4

19

3

1a

8

IN
K

E
R

M
A

N
 S

TR
E

E
T

El Sub Sta

ALMA STREET

23

18

ALBERT STREET

3

12

33

1 
to

 3
3

59

1

21

M
E

A
D

O
W

 S
T

R
E

E
T

2

2

57

3

22

11

12

52

TERRACE

20

23

22

24

Crosshills

90.2m

1

45

STREET

6

16

36

83

NORTH STREET

13
a

EAST STREET

1

17

8

48

36

15

19
11

1

9

1

29

103.0m

49

HALL HILL STREET

19

3

5

Sub Sta

7

2

3

16a

10

61

Windsor

12

20

8

3

5

98.5m

2

T
errace

15

94.2m

1

18

3
8

17

D
R

A
G

O
N

 S
T

7

SHUTTLEWORTH STREET

1

95.1m

Car Park

14

M
A

PLE C
LO

SE

PCs

6

18

22
1

16

12

11

4

H
A

V
ELO

C
K

 S
TR

E
E

T

PARISH STREET

1

1

7

26

35

93.6m

1

1

44

BACK ALBERT STREET

5

2

13

21

27

14

16

BANK S
TREET

D
A

M
E

 F
O

LD

QUEEN STREET 5

3

71

47

9

PH

24

6

CHURCH

95.7m

11

21

20

2

S
t G

iles

LB

6

10

C
H

U
R

C
H

 L
A

N
EW

EST S
TREET

12

4

CHAPEL WALK

K
IN

G
 S

TR
E

E
T

54

6

32

16

65

4

2

6

The Mews

14

35

53

13

12

4

ST LEO
N

A
R

D
'S STR

EET

4

14

3

12

Mast (T
elecommunicatio

n)

1
to

16

6

DOUBLE ROW

18

Club

15

38

30

15

34

28

46

26

11
a

SPRING GDNS

4

31

2

3

Th
e 

M
ew

s

Claybank Fold

3

Shelter

14

19

51

5

5

1

26

28

102.4m

Ref.

LBC/2023/0326

Part One Plan

The Lawrence Hotel, 28 Church Street, Padiham
1:1250

Date Printed: 23/01/2024

Paul Gatrell   Head of Housing and Development Control

Housing & Development Control
Town Hall, Manchester Road

Based upon Ordnance Survey mapping with
permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's
Stationery Office © Crown copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown
copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil
proceedings.
© Burnley Borough Council AC0000849998.

0 8 16 24 32 40 m

Scale

Page 57

Agenda Item 6c



This page is intentionally left blank



Application recommended for APPROVAL           LBC/2023/0326 
Hapton with Park Ward 
 
Application for Listed Building Consent: 
Installation of 2 no electronically operated awnings with non-illuminated hotel name to front elevation; 
and installation of 3 no. air conditioning extraction units to side elevation (Retrospective Application) 
THE LAWRENCE HOTEL 28 CHURCH STREET PADIHAM BB12 8HG 
 
Applicant: Mr M Huckerby 
Agent: Avalon Town Planning Ltd 
 
Background: 
 
This application follows investigation of a suspected breach of listed building control.  A breach was 
found to have occurred and in this case Officers consider the submission of a retrospective listed 
building consent application is an appropriate way forward to regularise the situation. 
 
This application is presented to Committee as three material planning objections have been received to 
the corresponding planning application FUL/2023/0325. 
 
Site Description: 
 
This application relates to The Lawrence Hotel, a stone built property situated to the north of Church  
Street, a busy throughfare. The hotel comprises Numbers 26 and 28 Church Street, attractive late 
Georgian buildings fronting Church Street that have been integrated and remodelled to form a single 
unit with additional accommodation located in later extensions to the side and rear. The buildings are 
constructed in coursed sandstone rubble in a classical design resulting in a pleasing overall balance 
and symmetry. The set back from the pavement and slightly elevated position from Church Street adds 
to the prominence of what are otherwise quite simple buildings. The building’s setting has undergone 
significant change in the last century with demolition and redevelopment of housing to the north, east 
and west. The western (side) elevation of the building is adjacent a narrow passageway and is largely 
screened from public view due to the relative proximity of The Mews development on Chapel Walk. 
 

  
Image c. Google Streetview 
 
The principal building, No 28 Church Street, is listed (Grade II) and No 26 is identified as a locally listed 
(non-designated heritage asset). The property is located within the Padiham Conservation Area, the 
special character and appearance of which is described within the Conservation Area Appraisal (June 
2020). The surrounding area includes a mix of residential and commercial uses.  

Page 59



Summary of Heritage Significance: 
 
No 28 Church Street is a heritage asset of high significance reflected in its Grade II Listing. The nature 
of this significance lies chiefly in its architectural and historic interest. On the first count is holds value 
for its external qualities including its balanced facade, classical proportions and quality of materials 
which combine to form a distinguished example of late Georgian domestic architecture that retains the 
outer appearance of its principal facades largely unaltered. Features of particular note including the 
central doorway with semi-circular fanlight, paired windows with multi-paned sash windows and 
corbelled eaves. Later extensions have a negative impact in places. The building also draws 
significance from its setting within the Padiham Conservation Area and holds value at a local level in 
representing the history and growth of Padiham and makes a positive contribution to the significance of 
the conservation area through its aesthetic, historic and associative value. 
 
The listing description refers only to the external features of the building, the authenticity and integrity of 
the interior having been compromised by modern interventions including the removal of most of the 
internal fittings and finishes; and through the conversion and adaptation to form guesthouse and hotel 
accommodation including alteration of the historic interior plan form and hierarchy.  
 
Proposal: 

This application seeks retrospective listed building consent to regularise the following alterations: 

Installation of three external air conditioning units to side (west facing) elevation: 

Each unit measures 716mm H x 820mm W x 315mm D. They are sited together on the side elevation of 
a lower level link building which faces the rear elevation of No 5 The Mews at a distance of 
approximately 6.0 metres across a narrow alleyway which has limited public views. The link building is 
a relatively modern extension which makes no contribution to the significance (special interest) of the 
listed building in terms of how the building and its heritage values are appreciated and understood and 
is therefore less sensitive to alterations. It is understood that the units are currently only used for 
cooling the building though they can also provide heating as required. The sound pressure level when 
operating at high capacity is 53/54 d/B(A).  

The position of the units is largely dictated by function. Their current position is readily visible in direct 
views from habitable room windows at No 5 The Mews. Following negotiation with the applicant it is 
proposed to re-position the units at a lower (close to ground) level, below the height of the existing 
boundary fence, in order to preserve views from neighbouring habitable room windows and to provide a 
degree of buffering against any instances of air blowing out of the units, as noted from consultation 
responses. A revised drawing showing the amended position on the elevation was submitted and re-
consultations carried out. The revised drawing is supported by an expert assessment which confirms 
that the repositioning of the units will not affect their technical performance. 

   

Existing Side Elevation     Proposed Side Elevation with AC units repositioned 

 

Page 60



The applicant considers air conditioning is paramount to the comfort of guests using the function and 
guest rooms which are otherwise poorly ventilated. This is expected of a modern hotel and without 
which, the hotel would struggle to compete with other venues. 

Installation of two awnings with non-illuminated hotel name to front (south) elevation 

The awnings were installed in 2020 to enable customers to comfortably dine outdoors during the Covid 
19 Pandemic. Retractable side screens and patio heaters were also mounted on the front elevation. 
Following negotiation, the applicant agreed to remove the 4 patio heaters and 2 retractable sides which 
were considered to cause an unacceptable level of visual clutter to the frontage. A revised drawing was 
submitted and re-consultations carried out. 

The awnings are sited to either side of the doorway between the ground and first floor windows and off-
set from the sides of the building. This reinforces the symmetrical appearance of the front elevation and 
avoids the need to obscure any architectural features or horizontally dissect the full width of the façade. 
The awnings are a modest traditional form and comprise a muted coloured canvas cover with a valance 
displaying the name of the Hotel. They project out from rollers on wall mounted brackets with the 
electrical power supply and wiring hidden behind the awing valance. Each awning measures 4.0m in 
width and has a projection of approximately 2.0m over the garden forecourt when fully extended such 
that they do not appear overly bulky in profile or unduly prominent. In their retracted state, the awnings 
appear as relatively discreet, slim cylinders displaying the name of the Hotel. 

The applicant considers the awnings are a vitally important to the business, providing shelter to the 
main outdoor amenity space which has become a significant part of the facility used largely for wedding 
parties including their photography, enabling the hotel to compete with other local wedding venues. 
This, in turn, supports the optimum viable use of the building.  

 

Existing Elevation showing wall mounted heaters and services        Proposed Elevation 

There is a concurrent planning application for the alterations (Ref FUL/2023/0325). The application is 
the subject of a separate report which it is suggested is read in conjunction. 
 
Relevant Policies: 

Burnley’s Local Plan (July 2018): Policy HE2 (Designated Heritage Assets) outlines the key 
requirement for proposals to have regard to the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance 
of listed buildings and, where appropriate, securing a viable use most consistent with their 
conservation. All levels of harm should be avoided. The policy adopts the NPPF’s categories of 

Page 61



‘substantial’ and ‘less than substantial’ harm and the corresponding policy tests (as set out in NPPF 207 
and 208). In summary, these tests provide an opportunity for an applicant to demonstrate that there 
would be public benefits arising from a proposal which may outweigh heritage harm. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (Dec 2023): The conservation of heritage assets in a manner 
appropriate to their ‘significance’ is the focus of the NPPF. In particular paragraph 205 advises that 
when considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage 
asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. This is irrespective of whether any 
potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss, or less than substantial harm to its significance. 
Paragraph 206 continues setting out that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 
heritage asset should require clear and convincing justification. Paragraph 208 explains that where a 
development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated 
heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where 
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 
 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990: Sections 16 and 66 as set out below. 
 
Relevant Recent Planning History:  
 
APP/2019/0126 and APP/2019/0127(LBC): Proposed new single storey extension in to existing court 
yard with flat roof terrace above Conversion of grassed area on North Street into parking spaces 
Addition of timber gate and pedestrian access door 
 
Consultation and Publicity: 
 
Publicity: One letter of objection was received in relation to the awnings. The objector suggested that 
the awnings and adjacent clutter be removed, some of which could be re-sited on the west elevation. 
 
Three other responses were received which relate to the impact of the air conditioning units on 
neighbouring amenity. Whilst not a material consideration in the assessment of the Listed Building 
Consent Application, these matters are reported in the corresponding planning application (Ref 
FUL/2023/0325) and have been considered in that assessment.  
 
Assessment: 
 
The main issue for consideration is the provisions of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990. Section 16(2) and 66 confer upon local planning authorities a duty to have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the special interest of a listed building, its setting or any features 
of special architectural or historic interest that it possesses. With regard to the NPPF and Local Plan 
Policy HE2 this can be defined as the impact of the proposal on the significance (special interest) of the 
Listed Building affected with ‘preservation’ in this context meaning doing no harm to the significance as 
opposed to keeping it utterly unchanged and considerable weight should be given to any harm found to 
arise.  
 
Having regard to the relevant policy and legislation, as set out above, the determining issue is whether 
the alterations would preserve (not cause harm to) the special interest (significance) of the Listed 
Building or any features of special architectural or historic interest that it possesses. 
 
Impact on the significance (special interest) of the Listed Building: 
 
The building’s special interest, in so far as it relates to this application is primarily associated with its 
architecture and historic fabric. 
 
The application is supported by a heritage statement which includes a brief outline of the heritage 
significance and has been subject to additional assessment by the Council’s Heritage Planner. The 
Heritage Statement finds that whilst the proposed alterations will cause a minor level of harm to the 

Page 62



significance of the listed building these are limited in scope and are considered to be outweighed by the 
benefits of ensuring the hotel remains in viable use thus securing the long term future of the listed 
building. This document has been assessed by the Council’s Heritage Planner who raises no objections 
to the conclusions of the assessment.  
 
Having regard to this document, the impact of the proposed works on the significance of the listed 
building has been assessed as follows: 
 
Installation of external air conditioning units to side elevation: The air conditioning units are 
proposed to be discreetly located on a later C20 extension which is neither prominent nor the most 
significant section of the building. Moreover, it makes no contribution to the significance of the listed 
building and is therefore less sensitive to alterations.  
 
Having regard to the significance of the listed building as a whole, it is considered that the degree of 
physical and visual change would have no greater than a neutral impact in that the installation of the air 
conditioning units would not diminish the special interest of the listed building nor would they alter the 
experience or understanding of its significance to any appreciable degree. It is therefore considered 
that the proposed alteration would preserve the special interest of the listed building in its entirety in 
accordance with Policy HE2, the NPPF and the duty assigned by the LBCA Act. 
 
Installation of awnings to the front (south) elevation: The awnings subject to this application are 
traditional in their style and material and typically used on traditional commercial frontages. In this case, 
whilst the building retains its domestic appearance it has been in use as a hotel/guest house for a 
significant period of its history. 
 
Their size and positioning are such that when viewed in the context of the principal elevation they sit 
comfortably within the building’s façade. They do not obscure architectural features when retracted or 
extended and are sufficiently off set from the sides of the building to prevent the horizontal dissection of 
the full width of the façade. In their retracted state, the awnings appear as relatively discreet, slim 
cylinders displaying the name of the Hotel. When fully extended they are proportionate to the garden 
forecourt and do not interfere to any significant degree with views of the architectural features or 
composition of the façade. 
 
Whilst visually acceptable, the awnings alter the appearance of the principal façade which is noted for 
its relative intactness.  Accordingly, the awnings have been found to result in harm to significance, the 
magnitude of which is falls within the lower end of the broad category of “less than substantial harm” in 
that they result in a degree of change that is minor and to such an extent that they do not alter the 
experience or understanding of the building’s significance to any appreciable degree. In such 
circumstances NPPF 208 and HE2 requires the harm to be weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use and reducing or removing risks 
to heritage assets. 
 
Public Benefits: 
 
Given that the building has been in use as a hotel/guest house for a significant period of time such that 
it has become an integral part of its historic significance, weight is therefore afforded to making 
reasonable change and provision for its continued use. In this case it is clearly evident that the awnings 
would help to fulfil that purpose in that they provide shelter to the outdoor terrace which has become a 
significant part of the facilities such that it allows the business to compete with local wedding venues 
and remain viable in support of the building’s long term preservation. Moreover, given the restrained 
outdoor space there is no alternative acceptable means of providing shelter that would allow the proper 
functioning of the terrace. 
 
The applicant has adequately demonstrated that the alteration is necessary and unavoidable in order to 
maintain competitiveness as a wedding venue thus ensuring the building remains in viable use. When 
considered against the public benefits associated with maintaining the building in viable use, this is 

Page 63



considered sufficient to outweigh the identified less then substantial harm to significance in accordance 
with Policy HE2, the NPPF and the duty assigned by the LBCA Act. 
 
Conclusion: 

The proposal has been examined in relation to its impact on those values that contribute to significance, 
the conclusion being that the alterations relate appropriately to the listed building, they are justified and 
proportionate and would facilitate the long term viable use of the building in support of its conservation 
thus delivering a public benefit.  

 
Recommendation:  
 
In giving considerable importance and weight to the duties at Section 16 and 66 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, in consideration to NPPF Section 16 and the relevant 
policies within Burnley’s Local Plan it is recommended that listed building consent is granted subject to 
conditions. 
 
Conditions and Reasons: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out other than to the approved drawings and 

specification of works noted thereon except where modified by the conditions of this consent. The 
approved drawings are Drawing Numbers:  
HUCK/01/Dwg02 (Proposed Elevations and Canopies at 1:50, 1:10 Scale) received 31 May 2023 
HUCK/01/Dwg03a (Proposed Side Elevations at 1:100 and 1:10 Scale) received 04 January 2024 
HUCK/01/Dwg05 (Front Elevation Fittings Plan at 1:50 Sale) received 11 January 2024 

 
Reason: To ensure the development is implemented in accordance with the approved plans and to 
avoid ambiguity.  

 
 
 
 
EEP (Principal Planner) 

Page 64



 
BURNLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 
 

REPORTS ON 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 
 

 
Photograph McCoy Wynne 

 
 
 

Part II: Decisions taken under the scheme of delegation.  
For Information 

 
 

7th February 2024 
 

Housing and Development 
 
 

Page 65

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

List of Delegated Decisions 
 
 

Application 
Number 

Applicant Location Proposal Decision Decision Date 

      
FUL/2023/0342 Davenport Vulcan Works  

Accrington Road 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB11 5QD 

Single storey portal frame extension 
with double-storey access feature to 
existing double-storey detached 
warehouse. 

Approve with 
Conditions 

13th December 
2023 

      
LBC/2023/0412 Mr & Mrs 

Ashworth 
Monk Hall  
Todmorden Road 
Briercliffe 
Lancashire 
BB10 3PJ 

Proposed external works including 
repointing and new windows.  Proposed 
internal works to living room. 

Refuse 17th January 2024 

      
REM/2023/0465 Mr Alex 

Kenwright 
Land at Accrington Road, 
Burnley 
 

Application for Approval of Reserved 
Matters for the Layout, Appearance, 
Scale and Landscaping of proposed 
Unit 3, Unit 4 and Unit 5 for Storage and 
Distribution use (Class B8) (pursuant to 
outline planning permission 
VAR/2023/0150). 

Approve with 
Conditions 

30th November 
2023 

      
FUL/2023/0485 Mr Kais Malique 181 Manchester Road 

Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB11 4HP 

Change of use from dwelling house 
(Use Class C3) to an eight bedroom 
(eight occupant) house in multiple 
occupation (Sui Generis Use) 

Refuse 28th November 
2023 

      
VAR/2023/0527 Mr C Hargan Old Red Lion Hotel 

2 - 4 Manchester Road 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB11 1HH 
 

Application to remove condition no.9 of 
planning permission COU/2021/0570 to 
allow the apartments to be used either 
as apartments or as HMOs. 

Refuse 15th December 
2023 

      

P
age 67



Application 
Number 

Applicant Location Proposal Decision Decision Date 

CND/2023/0558 Mr Neil Lewis Land At Barden Lane  
Burnley  
 

Proposed discharge of Condition 30 
(Contaminated Land) of outline planning 
permission OUT/2021/0443. 

Conditions part 
discharged 

7th December 
2023 

      
FUL/2023/0531 Mr P Whitehead 5B Widow Hill Road 

Heasandford Industrial 
Estate 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB10 2TJ 
 

Construction of a storage building with 
associated office space, including first 
floor mezzanine. 

Approve with 
Conditions 

13th December 
2023 

      
FUL/2023/0571 Bentley Estates 

London 
Land Formerly The Site Of 
40 
Plumbe Street 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
 
 

Erection of a 2 storey, 3 bedroom 
dwelling on land to the west of No. 30 
Pine Street 

Approve with 
Conditions 

20th December 
2023 

      
FUL/2023/0578 Rob Motors 6 Disraeli Street 

Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB10 1HR 

Retrospective application for change of 
use from light industrial use (Class Egiii) 
to motor vehicle workshop (Class B2) 
and insert new pedestrian door. 

Approve with 
Conditions 

15th December 
2023 

      
CND/2023/0586 Mr S Rigby Land At Wytham Street 

Padiham 
 

Proposed Discharge of Condition 13 
(Surface Water Drainage Operation and 
Maintenance Manual) and Condition 17 
(Flood Management and Maintenance 
Scheme) of planning permission 
FUL/2022/0431. 

Conditions 
discharged 

4th December 
2023 

      

P
age 68



Application 
Number 

Applicant Location Proposal Decision Decision Date 

FUL/2023/0595 Mr Jonathon 
Bullas 

Bulls Moor View 
The Long Causeway 
Cliviger 
Lancashire 
BB10 4RP 
 

Change of use of an existing agricultural 
building to stables. Construction of 40m 
x 20m menage with rail fence. 

Approve with 
Conditions 

24th November 
2023 

      
FUL/2023/0599  Former Methodist Church 

Cog Lane 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB11 5JT 
 

Change of use of former Parkside 
Methodist Church (Class F) to a 
Nursery (Class E). 

Approve with 
Conditions 

12th December 
2023 

      
PAG/2023/0617 Mrs Mandy 

Riley 
Lymefield House  
Burnley Road 
Dunnockshaw 
Lancashire 
BB11 5PP 

Agricultural building/lambing shed. Prior Approval 
refused 

30th November 
2023 

      
CND/2023/0622 Mr N Puttnam Former Reel Cinema   

Manchester Road 
Burnley 
BB11 2EG 

Discharge of Condition 14 (electric 
vehicle charging points) of planning 
permission COU/2021/0277. 

Conditions 
discharged 

30th November 
2023 

      
FUL/2023/0333 Mr Mohammed 

Abrar Fiaz 
Unit A  
Richard Street 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB11 3AJ 

Change of use of land to car sales pitch, 
car valeting facility including the 
erection of boundary fencing and 
associated buildings 

Refuse 7th December 
2023 

      
HOU/2023/0555 Mrs Munaza 

Bibi 
38 Grey Street 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB10 1BA 
 

Proposed extension to existing kitchen 
to create wet room to rear of kitchen. 

Approve with 
Conditions 

28th November 
2023 

      

P
age 69



Application 
Number 

Applicant Location Proposal Decision Decision Date 

HOU/2023/0604 Ms Vicky 
Maddox 

42 Hill Crest Avenue 
Cliviger 
Lancashire 
BB10 4JA 

Proposed single storey side extension. Refuse 10th December 
2023 

      
HOU/2023/0623 Mr John Ellis 136 Marsden Road 

Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB10 2QP 
 

Proposed single storey extension to 
side/rear. 

Approve with 
Conditions 

12th January 2024 

      
HOU/2023/0632 Stuart Catlow 13 Crow Wood Avenue 

Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB12 0JG 

Proposed erection of a single storey 
rear extension. 

Approve with 
Conditions 

24th November 
2023 

      
FUL/2023/0642 Mrs Faith 

Stringer 
Rockwood Nursery School  
Kingsland Road 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB11 3PU 

Replacement of original single glazed 
sliding sash timber windows with double 
glazed sliding sash timber windows (Re-
submission of FUL/2023/0208). 

Refuse 22nd January 
2024 

      
LBC/2023/0643 Mrs Faith 

Stringer 
Rockwood Nursery School  
Kingsland Road 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB11 3PU 

Replacement of original single glazed 
sliding sash timber windows with double 
glazed sliding sash timber windows (Re-
submission of LBC/2023/0209). 

Refuse 22nd January 
2024 

      
PAD/2023/0549 Mr Kamil Yildiz 325 Manchester Road 

Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB11 4HD 
 

Change of use from shop (Class E) to 
two flats (Class C3). 

Prior Approval 
Granted 

18th December 
2023 

      

P
age 70



Application 
Number 

Applicant Location Proposal Decision Decision Date 

CND/2023/0652 Mr Jacob 
Fekete 

Chaddesley House  
Manchester Road 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB11 1HW 

Proposed Discharge of Condition 4 
Construction Management Plan. 
PAOR/2023/0204 

Conditions 
discharged 

20th December 
2023 

      
HOU/2023/0657 Mrs Nazir 

Begum 
14 Evelyn Street 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB10 1QA 
 

Proposed wet room extension to rear of 
kitchen. 

Approve with 
Conditions 

15th December 
2023 

      
HOU/2023/0618 Mr Eric Melihy 42 Redvers Street 

Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB10 1RT 

Single storey rear extension. Approve with 
Conditions 

15th December 
2023 

      
HOU/2023/0647 Mr F Khan 17 Leamington Avenue 

Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB10 3HH 
 

Proposed single storey extensions to 
side and rear elevations. 
 

Application 
Withdrawn 

10th January 2024 

      
FUL/2023/0660 T Etherington 60 Manchester Road 

Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB11 1HN 

Demolition of chimney stacks and 
reconstruction of 3 no chimney stacks; 
re-roof and insertion of 8 no 
conservation style rooflights. 

Approve with 
Conditions 

12th January 2024 

      
HOU/2023/0639 Mr Sultan 

Anwar 
95 Eastern Avenue 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB10 2AU 

Two storey rear extension and single 
storey front and side extension. 
(Resubmission of HOU/2023/0025) 

Approve with 
Conditions 

20th December 
2023 

      

P
age 71



Application 
Number 

Applicant Location Proposal Decision Decision Date 

HOU/2023/0651 Mr Jason 
Huckle 

Waggoners Farm 
Manchester Road 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB11 5NS 
 

Single storey rear extension. Approve with 
Conditions 

20th December 
2023 

      
CND/2023/0659 Mr Graham 

Vernon 
Burnley Boys And Girls Club  
Barden Lane 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB10 1JQ 

Submission of details required by 
condition 3 (construction management 
plan / construction method statement) of 
planning permission FUL/2022/0721. 

Conditions 
discharged 

13th December 
2023 

      
CEA/2023/0631 Mr Ramy Esmat 

Abdel Mottalib 
84 Westgate 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB11 1RY 
 

Proposed change of use from a C3(a) 
residential dwelling to a C4 HMO 
(House of Multiple Occupation) for no 
more than 6 people, and removal of 
external paint/render with repointing to 
its original state, and insertion of two loft 
windows. 

Refuse 20th December 
2023 

      
HOU/2023/0669 Miss Joanne 

Pate 
50 Sandiway Drive 
Briercliffe 
Lancashire 
BB10 2JS 
 

Proposed two-storey and single-storey 
extensions. 

Application 
Withdrawn 

27th November 
2023 

      
HOU/2023/0637 Ms Elaine 

Turner 
23 Acrefield 
Padiham 
Lancashire 
BB12 8HN 
 

Single storey front extension and 
garage conversion. 

Approve with 
Conditions 

20th December 
2023 

      

P
age 72



Application 
Number 

Applicant Location Proposal Decision Decision Date 

HOU/2023/0624 MR JAVAD 
SADDIQUE 

61 Windermere Avenue 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB10 2AB 

Proposed two storey extension to side 
elevation (re-submission of planning 
application HOU/2023/0429). 

Approve with 
Conditions 

4th December 
2023 

      
HOU/2023/0676 Mrs Suvena 

Derbyshire 
11 Bowness Road 
Padiham 
Lancashire 
BB12 8PA 
 

Proposed bedroom/wet room extension 
to rear with step lift to front to create 
level access. Decked area to rear for 
level garden access. 
Re-submission of HOU/2023/0613. 

Approve with 
Conditions 

13th December 
2023 

      
FUL/2023/0675 J Gardner Pearsons House Farm  

The Long Causeway 
Cliviger 
Lancashire 
BB10 4RR 

Change of use from commercial livery 
stables (granted under planning 
permission APP/2008/0389) to private 
stables for personal use only. 

Application 
Withdrawn 

5th December 
2023 

      
      

FUL/2023/0663 Mr Stuart 
Arnfield 

Burnley College 
Princess Way 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB12 0AN 
 

Refurbishment of artificial grass pitch, 
including replacement of surface, 
alterations to fencing, creation of 
spectator area, upgrading of lighting 
and siting of a storage container 
 

Approve with 
Conditions 

21st December 
2023 

      
TPO/2023/0682 Mrs Kathryn 

Yates 
Padiham Road Methodist 
Church  
Brassey Street 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB12 8AD 

Application to fell one Ash tree (T6) 
protected by the Burnley(Ightenhill 
Methodist Church) Tree Preservation 
Order 1983. 
 

Approve with 
Conditions 

12th January 2024 

      

P
age 73



Application 
Number 

Applicant Location Proposal Decision Decision Date 

FUL/2023/0405 Mr Frank Owen Park Gate Farm 
Hameldon Road 
Hapton 
Lancashire 
BB11 5QW 
 

Proposed demolition of existing dwelling 
and barns and erection of one 
replacement dwelling 

Application 
Withdrawn 

4th December 
2023 

      
FUL/2023/0634 sultan alam 3 March Street, 

Burnley 
BB12 0BU 

Change of use of garden land to car 
storage area with 17 spaces and 
associated landscaping and wire mesh 
gates 

Approve with 
Conditions 

16th January 2024 

      
FUL/2023/0658 Mr Adam 

Murray 
Part Ground Floor (Lean 
Gymnasium) 
Oak Mill  
Manchester Road 
Dunnockshaw 
BB11 5PW 
 

Change of use of part of ground floor 
from a commercial gym to staff facilities 
including overnight accommodation 

Approve with 
Conditions 

15th January 2024 

      
HOU/2023/0685 Mr and Mrs 

Johnson 
4 Carter Avenue 
Hapton 
Lancashire 
BB11 5RG 

Proposed single storey extension. Approve with 
Conditions 

11th January 2024 

      
HOU/2023/0677 Mr Umar Javed 337 Colne Road 

Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB10 1TP 
 

Proposed rear extension with disabled 
access. 

Approve with 
Conditions 

11th January 2024 

      
HOU/2023/0686 Mr Paul 

Hargreaves 
69 Aspen Drive 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB10 3FB 
 

Proposed two storey side extension. Application 
Withdrawn 

13th December 
2023 

      

P
age 74



Application 
Number 

Applicant Location Proposal Decision Decision Date 

FUL/2023/0697 MR NAVEED 
AHMED 

146 Colne Road 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB10 1DT 

Proposed change of use from 
residential to Class E (Shop/Retail). 

Approve with 
Conditions 

11th January 2024 

      
HOU/2023/0698 Mr Paul Rees 14 Inglewhite Fold 

Padiham 
Lancashire 
BB12 7EF 

Proposed first floor extension over 
existing single storey extension and 
extension to drive. 

Approve with 
Conditions 

14th December 
2023 

      
      

HOU/2023/0695 Miss Jodie 
Bastable 

12 Ennerdale Road 
Worsthorne-with-hurstwood 
Lancashire 
BB10 4HJ 
 

Single storey extension to the rear of 
the property. 

Approve with 
Conditions 

18th December 
2023 

      
HOU/2023/0700 Ms Dawn 

Woods 
Hill Farm Cottage 
66 Halifax Road 
Briercliffe 
Lancashire 
BB10 3QS 
 

Replace existing outbuilding with double 
annexe. 

Application 
Withdrawn 

19th December 
2023 

      
HOU/2023/0705 Miss Tracy 

Healey 
18 Water Street 
Hapton 
Lancashire 
BB12 7LQ 
 

Proposed single storey side extension 
and proposed driveway (re-submission 
of HOU/2023/0410). 

Approve with 
Conditions 

11th January 2024 

      
COU/2023/0667 Dr Wahid 

Zaman 
145 Manchester Road 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB11 4HT 
 

Change of use from a house in multiple 
occupation (sui generis) to an adult care 
home (Use Class C2) 

Approve with 
Conditions 

12th January 2024 

      

P
age 75



Application 
Number 

Applicant Location Proposal Decision Decision Date 

CND/2023/0725 MR JAMIE 
SMITH 

243 Burnley Road 
Cliviger 
Lancashire 
BB10 4SP 

Discharge conditions 3 (surface water), 
4 (Construction Traffic Management 
Plan) and 5 (Construction Management 
Plan) attached to full planning 
permission reference FUL/2023/0636 

Conditions 
discharged 

12th January 2024 

      
PIP/2023/0730 Mr And Mrs 

Wyatt 
Afonwen 
Ightenhill Park Lane 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB12 0RW 
 

Erection of single dwelling Refuse 3rd January 2024 

      
NMA/2023/0684 Mr Mohammed 

Ali 
Kenmuir  
Burnley Road 
Briercliffe 
Lancashire 
BB10 2JJ 

Non-Material Amendment to Planning 
Approval No. HOU/2022/0011 to use 
fibre cement cladding boards instead of 
render on sections of the extension. 

Refuse 20th December 
2023 

      
PAG/2023/0746 Mr Robert Field Cornfield Farm 

Cornfield Grove 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB12 8UB 
 

Erection of agricultural buiding. Prior Approval 
Granted 

16th January 2024 

      
CND/2023/0759 Mr Ibrahim Altaf Land Former Wm Blythe 

Chemicals  
Manchester Road 
Hapton 
Lancashire 
BB12 7LF 

Proposed Discharge of Condition 13 
(Land Contamination - Validation 
reports for Plots 117-125 & 127) of 
planning permission APP/2016/0021 

Conditions part 
discharged 

19th January 2024 

      

P
age 76



Application 
Number 

Applicant Location Proposal Decision Decision Date 

NMA/2023/0733 Mr steven 
thomas 

Rockwater  
Foxstones Lane 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB10 4RS 

Application for non-material amendment 
to planning permission APP/2014/0434 
to change window positions on NW and 
S elevations, alter ridge height in lower 
section of house by 225mm and 1no. 
additional velux window. 

Non-Material 
Minor 
Amendment 
Granted 

20th December 
2023 

      
CND/2023/0763 Mr S Rigby Land At Wytham Street 

Padiham 
 

Discharge condition 5 (landscape 
management and maintenance) 
attached to full planning permission 
reference FUL/2022/0431 

Conditions 
discharged 

12th January 2024 

      
      

CEA/2023/0774 Mr Keith Ross 75 Melville Street 
Burnley 
Lancashire 
BB10 3EW 

Change of Use Class from C3 
(Dwellinghouses) to C4 (Small Houses 
in multiple occupation) for no more than 
4 people by converting the lounge into a 
bedroom. 

Lawful Dev Cert 
issued 

18th January 2024 

      
 

P
age 77



T
his page is intentionally left blank



BURNLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 
REPORTS ON 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 
 
 
 

 
Photograph McCoy Wynne 

 
 
 

Part III:  Appeal and other decisions 
For Information 

 
 
 

7th February 2024 
 

 
Housing and Development 

 

Page 79

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



APPEALS RECEIVED 
Date: 03.10.2023 – 30.01.2024 
 

File Ref Location Proposal Date Appeal Determined Decision 

     
FUL/2023/0299 East Barn Holt Hill  Halifax Road 

Briercliffe 
Creation of vehicular access 
from Classified Road, 
construction of access track 
and domestic parking area 
within a field, and subsequent 
change of use of land from 
agricultural to residential. 

  

     
SX3/2018/0305 Street Record 16 Badger Close To 7 

Town Hill Bank Burnley 
Development description   

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ALC - Appeal Allowed with Conditions 
ALLOW - Enforcement Appeal Allowed 
ALW - Appeal allowed 
ALWCST - Appeal allowed with costs 
APPABY - Appeal held in abeyance 
ASP - Appeal allowed in part 
AWD - Appeal withdrawn 
DIS - Appeal dismissed 
DISCST - Appeal dismissed with costs 
DISMIS - Enforcement Appeal Dismissed 
FEEDUE - Appeal Allowed, Awaiting Fee Payment 
HCLOG - High Court Appeal Lodged 
INPROG - Appeal In Progress 
LODGED - Appeal Lodged 
QUASH - Quashed on Appeal 
REMIT - Remitted to Secretary of State 
VALID - Appeal Valid 
WITHDR - Enforcement Appeal Withdrawn 

P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPEAL DECISIONS 
Date: 03.10.2023 – 30.01.2024 
 

File Ref Location Proposal Date Appeal Determined Decision 

     
FUL/2022/0149 Hollin Cross Farm Woodplumpton 

Road Burnley 
Full planning application for 
the erection of 200 dwellings 
and associated works. 

07.12.2023 ALC 

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ALC - Appeal Allowed with Conditions 
ALLOW - Enforcement Appeal Allowed 
ALW - Appeal allowed 
ALWCST - Appeal allowed with costs 
APPABY - Appeal held in abeyance 
ASP - Appeal allowed in part 
AWD - Appeal withdrawn 
DIS - Appeal dismissed 
DISCST - Appeal dismissed with costs 
DISMIS - Enforcement Appeal Dismissed 
FEEDUE - Appeal Allowed, Awaiting Fee Payment 
HCLOG - High Court Appeal Lodged 
INPROG - Appeal In Progress 
LODGED - Appeal Lodged 
QUASH - Quashed on Appeal 
REMIT - Remitted to Secretary of State 
VALID - Appeal Valid 
WITHDR - Enforcement Appeal Withdrawn 

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 List of Deposited Plans and Applications
	PLANNING APPLICATIONS
	7th February 2024

	6a FUL/2022/0629 - Land West of Heckenhurst Avenue Burnley
	Committee Report

	6b FUL/2023/0325 - The Lawrence Hotel, 28 Church Street, Padiham
	FUL 2023 0325 Lawrence Draft Officer Report (3)
	Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990


	6c LBC/2023/0326 - The Lawrence Hotel, 28 Church Street, Padiham
	LBC 2023 0326  Lawrence Draft Officer Report

	7 Decisions taken under the Scheme of Delegation
	Part 2 List from 24th November 2023 to 23rd January 2024.docx

	8 Appeals & Other Decisions - for information
	PLANNING APPLICATIONS
	7th February 2024
	Appeals Received 03.10.2023 - 30.01.24
	Appeals Decisions -03.10.23 - 30.01.24


